### National and Kapodistrian University of Athens

Interdisciplinary M.Sc course in Nanomedicine

Academic year: 2019-2020

December 2020

# "Stem cell-derived exosomes in the therapy of inflammatory diseases"

Magdalini T. Papadopoulou

Supervisor: Maria G. Roubelaki

Members of the Committee: Efstathios Efstathopoulos, Maria Gazouli

## Acknowledgements

I would first like to deeply thank my thesis advisor, Professor Maria (Maya) Roubelaki, Associate Professor of Biology and applications of Regenerative Medicine in Medical School of National and Kapodistrian University of Athens. I still remember the day when she first mentioned in a lecture that exosomes are an emerging field of research, and the excitement I felt after reading about their possibilities. I would like to thank her for proposing this very interesting thesis subject, and for her constant support and valuable remarks. Her research activity and dedication is an inspiration to me.

My sincere gratitude also extends to Professor Maria Gazouli, Associate Professor of Molecular Biology in Medical School of National & Kapodistrian University of Athens, for always being approachable and willing to assist students during this master's degree program, for her useful comments and for encouraging me to write an article based on my thesis research.

In addition, I would like to express my deepest appreciation to Professor Efstathios Efstathopoulos, Professor of Medical Physics in Medical School of National & Kapodistrian University of Athens, for his continuous support during this year and for giving me the opportunity to attend this upcoming and remarkable program that has expanded my horizons in so many ways, and has amplified my interest for science, knowledge and research.

I would also like to thank my fellow students for making this year a great adventure, and for transforming every challenge into a shared and amusing experience. I consider myself lucky to have met you, and I hope all your dreams and aspirations will come true.

And finally, I must express my very profound gratitude to my parents, to my siblings and to my partner for always providing me with unfailing support and continuous encouragement in whatever I pursue in life, including the process of researching and writing this thesis. All my accomplishments would not have been possible without you. Thank you.

## **Table of Contents**

Abbreviations	.6
Abstract	.11
1. Introduction	
1.1 Extracellular vesicles/Exosomes	.12
1.1.1 Classification and nomenclature	.13
1.1.2 Biogenesis of exosomes	14
1.1.3 Molecular composition and physical characteristics of exosomes	15
1.1.4 Characterization of exosomes	.17
1.1.5 Isolation of exosomes	.17
1.1.6 Function of exosomes	.18
1.2 Stem Cells	
1.2.1 Definitions and properties of stem cells	20
1.2.2 Stem cell-derived exosomes	.22
2. Literature Review	
2.1 Inflammation	.24
2.1.1 Inflammatory diseases	.24
2.1.2 Inflammation and exosomes	25
2.2 Stem cell-derived exosomes and inflammatory diseases	.25
2.1.1 Gastrointestinal tract	.26
Inflammatory Bowel Disease	.26

Periodontitis
2.1.2 Nervous System
• Alzheimer's Disease
Multiple Sclerosis
2.2.3 Autoimmune Disorders
• Arthritis
• Diabetes
Methods45
Results46
Discussion48
Conclusion
References

## **Abbreviations**

AD	Alzheimer's Disease
ADMSC	Adipose-Derived Mesenchymal Stem/Stromal Cells
ADSC	Adipose-Derived Stem Cells
AF4	Asymmetrical flow field-flow fractionation
AFM	Atomic Force microscopy
AIC	Acute Inflammatory Colitis
Αβ	β-amyloid peptide
AβOs	Amyloid β oligomers
BALF	Bronchoalveolar Lavage Fluid
BM-MSCs/BMSCs	Bone Marrow-derived Mesenchymal Stem/Stromal Cells
CAC	Colitis-Associated Cancer
CD	Crohn's Disease
CIA	Collagen-Induced Arthritis
CKD	Chronic Kidney Disease
CM	Conditioned Medium
CNS	Central Nervous System
cryo-EM	cryo- Electron Microscopy
CXCL9	C-X-C motif chemokine 9
DFU	Diabetic Foot Ulcers
DLS	Dynamic Light Scattering
DMBT1	Deleted in Malignant Brain Tumors 1
DN	Diabetic Nephropathy

DPN	Diabetic Peripheral Neuropathy
DPSC	Dental Pulp Stem Cell
DSS	Dextran Sulfate Sodium
EAE	Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis
EPCs	Endothelial Progenitor Cells
ESCRT	Endosomal Sorting Complex Required for Transport
ESRD	End-Stage Renal Disease
EVs	Extracellular Vesicles
FasL	Fas Ligand
FLS	Fibroblast-Like Synoviocytes
GMP	Good Manufacturing Practice
GMSCs	Gingival Mesenchymal Stem/Stromal Cells
hESCs	human Embryonic Stem Cells
HGF	Hepatocyte Growth Factor
HLSCs	Human Liver Stem-like Cells
HRECs	Human Retinal Endothelial Cells
HSCs	Hemopoietic Stem Cells
HSP70	Heat Shock Protein 70
HSP90	Heat Shock Protein 90
hucMSCs	human umbilical cord Mesenchymal Stem/Stromal Cells
IBD	Inflammatory Bowel Disease
ICM	Inner Cell Mass
IFN-γ	Interferon gamma

IL-10	Interleukin 10
IL-18	Interleukin 18
IL-1β	Interleukin 1 beta
IL-4	Interleukin 4
IL-6	Interleukin 6
IL-7	Interleukin 7
ILV	Intraluminal Vesicles
iMSC	Induced Pluripotent Stem Cell-derived Mesenchymal/Stromal Cells
iNOS	Inducible NO Synthase
10	Intraocular
iPSCs	Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells
IV	Intravenous
MISEV2018	Minimal Information for Studies of Extracellular Vesicles
MMP	Matrix Metalloproteinase
MPO	Myeloperoxidase
MS	Multiple sclerosis
MSC-CM	Mesenchymal Stem/Stromal Cell Conditioned Medium
MSC-Exos	Mesenchymal Stem/Stromal Cell derived Exosomes
MSCs	Mesenchymal Stem/Stromal Cells
MVB	Multi-Vesicular Bodies
MVE	Multi-Vesicular Endosome
NS	Nervous System
NSCs	Neural Stem Cells

NTA	Nanoparticle Tracking Analysis
OA	Osteoarthritis
РВМС	Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells
PBS	Phosphate Buffered Saline
PEG	Polyethylene Glycol
RA	Rheumatoid Arthritis
ROS	Reactive Oxygen Species
RVG	Rabies Viral Glycoprotein
SC	Subconjunctival
SC-Exo	Stem-Cell derived Exosomes
SEC	Size Exclusion Chromatography
SEM	Scanning Electron Microscopy
SMMSC	Synovial Membrane derived Mesenchymal Stem/Stromal Cells
TE	Trophectoderm
TEM	Transmission Electron Microscopy
TGF-β1	Transforming Growth Factor-β1
Th1	T helper 1 cell
Th17	T helper 17 cell
TLR4	Toll-Like Receptor 4
TMSC	Tonsil-derived Mesenchymal Stem/Stromal Cells
TNBS	Trinitrobenzenesulfonic Acid
TNF-a	Tumor Necrosis Factor alpha
Treg	Regulatory T-cell

TRPS	Tunable Resistive Pulse Sensing
UC	Ulcerative Colitis
U-MSCs	Umbilical cord-derived Mesenchymal Stem/Stromal Cells
VEGF	Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor

## Abstract

Exosomes, a subtype of extracellular microvesicles with a diameter of 30–150 nm, are nanovesicles secreted by all types of cells, both eukaryotic and prokaryotic. For many years, scientists believed that exosomes were a disposal mechanism of the cell, however, over the last decades, exosomes received unprecedented scientific attention when it was discovered that they carry genetic material and they act as mediators of cellular communication. The exosomal cargo includes proteins, ribonucleic acids, such as mRNAs and microRNAs, and lipids. By transferring bioactive molecules, exosomes can modulate inflammation, immune response, tumor invasion and metastasis, tissue regeneration and several other biological processes. The research regarding their potential role in the diagnosis, progression and therapy of many diseases is growing exponentially over the last years. Exosomes secreted by stem cells hold great potential in the treatment of various diseases due to the unique properties that are derived from their parental cells. They provide new perspectives for the development of a cell-free therapeutic approach, which is an important pursue due to the reported side effects of stem cell-based therapy, such as immune rejection, mal-differentiation, tumor formation and lung entrapment. Stem cellderived exosomes have the capacity to repair damaged tissues, promote angiogenesis, regulate immune responses and other physiological or pathological processes, and thus, they are ideal candidates for the treatment of chronic inflammatory and autoimmune conditions. Inflammation is emerging as a major predisposal factor in the pathogenesis of a plethora of diseases. Hence, the therapeutic potential of stem cell-derived exosomes, as well as the mechanism underlying it, is being thoroughly investigated through in vitro and in vivo animal studies. Stem-cell derived exosomes exhibit promising results in the treatment of chronic inflammatory diseases of the gastrointestinal tract, like inflammatory bowel disease and periodontitis, neurodegenerative disorders, such as Alzheimer's disease and multiple sclerosis, and various autoimmune diseases, such as arthritis and diabetes. This report describes the progress regarding the effects of stem cell-derived exosomes in the treatment of many inflammatory diseases and the mechanism behind their action.

## **1** Introduction

#### **1.1 Extracellular Vesicles/ Exosomes**

Extracellular vesicles (EVs) are particles that are naturally released from the cell and delimited by a lipid bilayer, containing cytosol from the secreting cells, but not containing a functional nucleus, indicating the lack of ability to replicate [1]. It is known that all kinds of cells release EVs into the extracellular space, both eukaryotic and prokaryotic. There have been early reports of these secreted particles from various sources. Nonetheless, the importance of the discovery was not recognized at the time, and it was not understood that their functions were part of a shared cell biological property [2]. Specifically, EVs were observed as procoagulant platelet-derived particles in normal plasma, originally reported in 1946 by Chargaff and West, and referred to as "platelet dust" by Wolf in 1967 [2]. Around the same time, in 1969, Anderson described them as "matrix vesicles", that were surrounded by a membrane and located in the matrix of cartilage. They were thought to be associated with calcification [3]. For years, EVs were detected in many biological fluids, and it was observed that they were secreted by different kinds of mammalian cells. However, it was initially believed that those vesicles were secreted from the cells through a mechanism that involved the outward budding of the plasma membrane. In 1983, it was demonstrated that vesicles are also released by multi-vesicular bodies (MVBs) fusing with the cell membrane, resulting in the release of intraluminal vesicles (ILV) into the extracellular space [4-6]. The term "exosome" was proposed by Johnstone et al. in 1987 to describe the released vesicles of endosomal origin [7]. However, for decades, exosomes were considered "garbage bags", and they were thought to be the disposal of unwanted cellular components. In 2007, a breakthrough took place when it was discovered that exosomes, carrying mRNA and micRNA, were involved into the communication between cells, through the transfer of genetic material [8]. Today, EVs/exosomes have immerged as mediators of cell-to-cell communication and are receiving unprecedented scientific attention, whilst the research on them is growing exponentially.

#### 1.1.1 Classification and nomenclature

EVs are extremely diverse in terms of their cargo, density and morphology. Because of this diversity, and the many subpopulations that exist, EVs have been categorized in different ways throughout the years. Today, it is commonly accepted that EVs are classified into three subcategories based on their biogenesis: exosomes, microvesicles or ectosomes, and apoptotic bodies [9]. Apoptotic bodies are shed from the plasma membrane of a dying cell during apoptosis, being the result of programmed cell death. They are the population with the largest size and the largest heterogeneity in size, ranging between 200 nm to 5 µm. [9] Microvesicles/ectosomes are considered to be formed from the plasma membrane of viable cells and are 100 to 800 nm in size [9]. Exosomes have the smallest size among the three categories of EVs, ranging between 30 nm- 150 nm, while their origin is endosomal. To release exosomes, several cellular steps need to be completed; formation of ILVs into MVBs, transport of MVBs to the plasma membrane and fusion of MVBs with the plasma membrane [10]. As knowledge concerning EVs is growing, it is observed that the diversity of EVs is larger than anticipated [11, 12]. This fact, as well as the overlap of size, morphology and density in various subpopulations of EVs, and the difficulty in isolating pure preparations using currently available techniques, have created the need for a different type of classification and nomenclature.

Therefore, a universal means of classification has recently been proposed [13]. In 2018, the International Society of Extracellular Vesicles proposed Minimal Information for Studies of Extracellular Vesicles (MISEV2018), updating the guidelines of 2014 (MISEV2014), based on the evolution of the collective knowledge in those four years [14].

"Since consensus has not yet emerged on specific markers of EV subtypes, such as endosome-origin "exosomes" and plasma membrane-derived "ectosomes" (microparticles/microvesicles) [14,15,16], assigning an EV to a particular biogenesis pathway remains extraordinarily difficult unless, e.g. the EV is caught in the act of release by living imaging techniques [14]. Therefore, unless authors can establish specific markers of subcellular origin that are reliable within their experimental system(s), authors are urged to consider use of operational terms for EV subtypes that refer to a) physical characteristics of EVs, such as size ("small EVs" (sEVs) and "medium/large EVs" (m/IEVs), with ranges

described, for instance, respectively, < 100 nm or < 200 nm [small], or > 200 nm [large and/or medium], or density (low, middle, high, with each range defined); b) biochemical composition (CD63+/CD81+- EVs, Annexin A5-stained EVs, etc.) or c) description of conditions or cell of origin (podocyte EVs, hypoxic EVs, large oncosomes, apoptotic bodies), in the place of terms such as exosome and microvesicle that are historically burdened by both manifold, contradictory definitions and inaccurate expectations of unique biogenesis [14]."

In conclusion, the definition of a generic means of classification is important in order for the scientific community to be able to exchange information, and discussions on these issues are on-going.

#### 1.1.2 Biogenesis of exosomes

The identified proteins of exosomes are found in the cytocol, at the plasma membrane or the membrane of endocytic compartments. Furthermore, a lot of these proteins are involved in the endocytic pathway [17,18]. These are the reasons why it is currently believed that the origin of exosomes is endosomal. Exosomes are believed to be created by the endocytic invagination of the PM, and during this event they capture molecules and material from the cytoplasm of the cell [19]. There are two membrane inversions that are taking place during the formation of exosomes, and thus the membrane consistency of exosomes is similar to the plasma membrane of the producing cell. The first inversion happens with the endocytic internalization, while the second occurs when the ILVs are budding off into the lumen of the matured endosome [19]. The cargo in the multivesicular endosome (MVE) that is meant to be degraded by lysosomes, is undergoing ubiquitination. It is not completely understood how this MVE is rerouted for exosome release. It is believed that the endosomal sorting complex required for transport (ESCRT) mechanism is involved in this process. Particularly, Thery et al. suggested in a study that ALIX and TSG100 are involved in the release of exosomes in dendritic cells. ESCRT-I and ESCRT-II are thought to be mediators of the intraluminal membrane budding, and ESCRT-III in the formation of intraluminal vesicles [20]. A study by Trajkovic et al. is referring to another model of biogenesis that involves a ceramide system into the formation of exosomes [21]. The Rab proteins, a family of small GTP binding proteins are considered to be mediating the intracellular trafficking [22]. Those proteins may regulate the fusion of the MVE with the plasma membrane, as well as SNARE proteins. Exosome release could also be affected by the calcium levels of the cell.

## 1.1.3 Molecular composition and physical characteristics of exosomes

Exosomes are too small to be observed under optical microscopy. Under TEM, they appear to have a cup- shaped geometry, but it is believed that this shape is an artefact due to the drying process. Their cargo can be specific and related to the parental cell, and the conditions of the secretion may affect it e.g. oxidative stress. Generally, they contain nucleic acids, proteins and lipids. It is not fully understood which mechanism is involved into the selection of cargo.

Proteins

Proteomic analysis techniques have given us a detailed insight into the exosomal cargo. Early studies have indicated that exosomes contain proteins both dependent and independent of the cell type. On their surface and lumen there are specific marker proteins. Some of them are the tetraspanins (CD9, CD63 and CD81), and the heat-shock proteins (HSP70, HSP90). Furthermore, they contain molecules that are involved in the biogenesis of multivesicular endosomes, such as TSG101 and ALIX, and some proteins of the cytoplasm, such as annexins, Rab proteins, and actin [25]. These are molecules that may play an important role in various diseases. For example, heat-shock proteins are proven to have a cardio-protective molecule. The type of cell that releases the exosome, affects its proteome, and because of this characteristic it is feasible to identify the origin of the exosome, based on the specific cellular markers that are expressed. For example, CD31 and CD62P are found in exosomes released by platelet cells [25]. There is a database named "ExoCarta" that contains useful information regarding the proteins, RNA and lipids that have been identified in exosomes [26].

• Lipids

The lipid composition of exosomes has not been studied extensively. Nevertheless, it has been shown that they contain numerous lipid species, such as sphingomyelin, cholesterol, phosphatidylserine, and saturated fatty acids [23,24].

mRNA and microRNA (miRNA)

In 2007, Jan Lötvall *et al.* discovered that cells are exchanging genetic information through exosome-mediated mRNAs and miRNAs [27]. It was a breakthrough discovery in exosome research, and they also proved through in vitro experiments that mRNAs were not only present, but functional too. It was observed that mouse exosomal RNA, when transferred to human mast cells, could provoke the creation of new proteins in the donee cell [28]. This pivotal discovery demonstrated a new way of cell-to-cell communication. This mechanism appears to have similarities with viruses, where exosome-mediated transfer of RNAs, mRNAs and proteins is present. The mRNA and miRNA cargo, like protein cargo, is characteristic to the parental cell, and some conditions like cellular stress can affect the RNA content [29]. Consequently, exosomes could be an indicator of the physiological conditions of the cell they originated from. Various studies have demonstrated the capacity of exosomes to communicate with other cells via miRNA transfer [28,29]. Nevertheless, the range of the amount of plasma miRNA that is present in exosomes is under debate. There are studies suggesting that exosomes carry most of the plasma miRNA [31], and others that plasma miRNAs are mostly argonaute-bound [32].

#### 1.1.4 Characterization of exosomes

There are multiple techniques that can be used for the characterization of exosomes and they are useful tools to describe their physical characteristics such as size, density, morphology and protein cargo. Their morphology can be determined by transmission electron microscopy (TEM), scanning electron microscopy (SEM), cryo-electron microscopy (cryo-EM) and atomic force microscopy (AFM) [33]. TEM and SEM can provide highresolution imaging, and they can be combined with immunogold staining to locate specific proteins of the surface such as CD63 [34]. SEM can provide detailed information about the geometry of the surface [35,36]. An advantage of the cryo-EM technique is that the samples do not undergo extensive processing before the application of the analysis, in contrary to TEM and SEM techniques, and thus the vesicles can retain their physical state. AFM also enables visualization without the need of extensive preparation, and it provides information regarding the morphology of the surface, the adhesion properties and the density of exosomes. Other methods that can be used to determine the size distribution and quantification of exosomes in a suspension are nanoparticle tracking analysis (NTA), dynamic light scattering (DLS), and tunable resistive pulse sensing (TRPS). A method to define the density of exosomes is gradient centrifugation using sucrose or iodixanol. Western blot and flow cytometry can also be applied to detect selected exosomal proteins that act as markers, i.e. endosomal proteins, transmembrane proteins, cytosolic proteins or proteins specific for other compartments of the cell. A new flow cytometry technique has recently been developed and it allows detection of single vesicles [37].

#### 1.1.5 Isolation of exosomes

There are many techniques that can be used for the isolation of exosomes. Some of them are differential ultracentrifugation, Size Exclusion Chromatography (SEC), filtration, immunoaffinity capture and precipitation [38,39]. The selection of the appropriate technique depends on the characteristics of the sample (e.g. cell culture or biological fluid, quantity of the material), the goal and type of the study. The most broadly used method

for isolation of exosomes is differential ultracentrifugation, with or without purification [40]. It is known that the size and the density of a molecule affect its sedimentation properties, and thus, different centrifugation rotation speeds can produce different preparations. In particular, a low speed is applied at the beginning to dissociate dead cells and cellular waste. Subsequently, a medium speed is selected in order to remove large vesicles. By using high centrifugation speed, small vesicles are finally isolated [41]. Different centrifugation stages are resulting in the isolation of different subpopulations of EVs, such as large vesicles (e.g. apoptotic bodies), middle-sized vesicles (e.g. plasma membranederived microvesicles), and exosomes. As it has been mentioned before, there is an overlap of vesicle populations in terms of their size and density, and this fact is a limiting factor to the sufficiency of this method. Furthermore, other molecules could contaminate the population, such as protein aggregates. This limitation could be overcome by using a density gradient, either iodixanol gradients or sucrose gradients [43]. The filtration and SEC techniques are also isolating particles based on their size. Moreover, by using the SEC technique it is feasible to remove soluble proteins, resulting in a preparation that is less contaminated [44,45]. Another advantage of this procedure is that it maintains the integrity of the vesicles, as it causes less damage and aggregates. An effective way to isolate exosomes is by using polyethylene glycol (PEG) [46]. The aqueous PEG could provoke the aggregation of exosomes, and then those aggregates could be precipitated using low-speed centrifugation. Immunoaffinity capture allows the isolation of exosomes with specific protein markers [43]. There is a great need to develop new isolation techniques, to optimize the existing ones or to combine them in order to overcome the drawbacks of the described methods. In this direction, there are innovative techniques that have been applied on exosome isolation, such as ion-exchange chromatography, microfluidics and acoustic isolation, asymmetrical flow field-flow fractionation (AF4), and immunoisolation.

#### 1.1.6 Function of Exosomes

The mechanism of exosome biological function is not yet completely understood. Exosomes are released from a variety of cell types and it is known that they affect biological processes to a great extent. It is believed that exosomes participate in mechanisms such as inflammation, immunosuppression and regulation and tumor progression.

#### Inflammation and exosomes

The role of exosomes in inflammation is complicated. They could act as proinflammatory mediators or as immunosuppressive agents, dependent on the cell that they originate from or the conditions involved. Exosomes are known to be associated with pro-inflammatory proteins (HSP70, TGF- $\beta$ ) [47,48]. In a study, pro-inflammatory exosomes were found in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid (BALF) of patients with sarcoidosis [49]. In another study by Zhang et. al, exosomes were extracted from synovial fluid of rheumatoid arthritic patients, and they were shown to contain pro-inflammatory TNF- $\alpha$ , which delays the T cell activation-induced death, and aggravates their condition [50].

#### Immune regulation by exosomes

The discovery that exosomes could possibly mediate immune responses has drawn great scientific attention to them. The condition of the parental cells appears to affect their immunological action. For example, exosomes that are released from mature dendritic cells that have received immunosuppressive treatments, induce immune tolerance [51,52]. Fas ligand (FasL) mediate, a T cell killing molecule, is found in exosomes from a variety of cell types. It is reported that exosomes released by the trophoblast during the early stages of pregnancy induce pregnancy tolerance through Fas mediated apoptosis of T cells [53,54]. Tumor cells secrete exosomes that carry the FasL molecule and it has been shown through in vitro experiments that it kills Jurkat T cells. This secretion seems to help tumor cells to suppress the immune system [55,56].

#### 1.2 Stem Cells

#### 1.2.1 Definitions and properties of stem cells

Stem cells are cells that have the capacity to self-renew and to differentiate into various specialized cell lines. They proliferate indefinitely and produce more cells of the same kind. Stem cells are different from other types of cells, and all of them, regardless of their source, are characterized by some general properties: they can divide and self-renew for long periods, they are unspecialized and they can give rise to specialized cell types [57]. Stem cells can be categorized based on their potency [167], in three main categories: embryonic stem cells, fetal stem cells, and adult stem cells.

Embryonic stem cells are stem cells derived from the inner mass cells of a human embryo, called blastocyst, and they are pluripotent, meaning they have the capacity to differentiate into all derivatives of the three primary germ layers: ectoderm, endoderm and mesoderm, and hence, they can give rise to more than 200 specialized cell types of the body. Embryos of mammalian organisms contain two kinds of cells: of the inner cell mass (ICM), and of the trophectoderm (TE). The ICM cells will produce all the cell types, tissues and organs of the whole body. The TE cells will contribute to the formation of the placenta. In 1988 scientists developed a method to culture human embryonic stem cells (hESCs) in vitro, through the extraction of ICM cells of preimplantation human embryos. This practice resulted in a lot of controversy due to ethical reasons [161, 162]. In 2006, a pioneer work of some researchers resulted in the reprogramming of human adult stem cells into an embryonic stem cells (iPSCs) [163].

Fetal stem cells are cells derived from a fetus and can be isolated from fetal blood, bone marrow, and fetal tissues, such as amniotic fluid, placenta, umbilical cord, among others. Fetal stem cells are more "matured" than embryonic stem cells.

Adult stem cells are found in small numbers in most adult tissues, such as bone marrow or fat. They have a more limited ability to give rise to various cells of the body, compared to embryonic stem cells, and thus they are called "multipotent". They act as a repair system of the organism and provide replacements for cells in cases of injury, disease and other conditions. They include hematopoietic stem cells, mesenchymal stem cells, neural stem

cells, epithelial stem cells and skin stem cells. They can be found in many organs and tissues of the body. They can remain inactive for long periods of time, until activated by a stimulus, in which case they divide in order to repair and maintain tissues [164].

#### Stem cells have the capacity to self-renew

Unlike most cell types of the body that don't replicate, stem cells have the ability to replicate many times. The result of this proliferation could be either another stem cell, identical to the parental cell, or a more differentiated type of cell. The mechanism behind this selection is yet unknown, and if discovered, it would provide answers regarding the embryonic development, the aging mechanism, or even the development of specific diseases, such as cancer. It could also lead to efficient methods of culturing stem cells in the laboratory [165]. Pluripotent stem cells tend to differentiate into specific cell types, and it was a great challenge for scientists to create conditions in vitro where they would remain undifferentiated [166].

#### Stem cells have the capacity to recreate functional tissues

Pluripotent stem cells can give rise to all of the specialized cells in the body, such as blood cells, nerve cells or muscle cells. On the contrary, adult stem cells can differentiate into the specific cell types of the tissue or organ in which they are located. Different kinds of stem cells can differentiate into different number of cell types, a property known as "potency" [167]. Each stage of the differentiating process requires specific signals that trigger it, i.e. biological factors released by other cells, communication with neighboring cells and specific molecules and conditions of the microenvironment [168].

#### Stem cells are capable of dividing and renewing themselves for long periods

Stem cells can proliferate for long periods of time in the laboratory and by doing so they can yield millions of cells. Those cells can remain unspecialized and capable of long term-self-renewal, or differentiate and produce specialized cell types. The factors and specific conditions that are involved into this process of selection (to differentiate or remain unspecialized) is of great interest. Understanding the mechanism behind the activation of stem cells in order to differentiate and replace dead cells and damaged tissue will provide critical information, and it may allow the culture of large numbers of unspecialized stem cells in vitro for further research [169, 170].

#### Stem cells are unspecialized

Stem cells do not share the same properties or physical characteristics with neighboring cells and thus they cannot perform specialized functions, such as pump blood (heart muscle cell), or carry molecules of oxygen (red blood cell). Those undifferentiated cells can give rise to specialized cells, a process known as "differentiation" [170].

#### 1.2.2 Stem cell-derived exosomes

Many of the regenerative properties and therapeutic potential of stem cells are attributed to their paracrine factors. It is believed that exosomes released from pluripotent and multipotent stem cells induce angiogenesis and cellular regeneration, prevent apoptosis, and regulate the immune system in chronically damaged tissues in living organisms and in vitro [58]. There are various advantages in using stem cell-derived exosomes in comparison to their parental cells. Exosomes do not produce an immune response, they are capable of crossing biological barriers, and they can be stored while retaining their functions. Moreover, there is no danger of mal-differentiation, a potential side effect of cell engraftment [59], teratoma formation or genetic modification that have been linked with iPSCs-based therapies [60,61]. Mesenchymal stem/stromal cells (MSCs), a type of adult stem cells found in bone marrow, are generally considered safe for clinical applications, however, it is believed that their therapeutic potential could be attributed to the effects of their secreted factors. Exosomes are released by different types of stem cells, including MSCs, hemopoietic stem cells (HSCs), iPSCs and neural stem cells (NSCs) [62,63]. Furthermore, the interaction between exosomes and target cells is complex: cells that have been damaged and need repair release exosomes that carry miRNAs; stem cells internalize them and start to differentiate into specific cell types. On the other side, stem cells release microvesicles that interact with injured cells and induce their self-repair functions [64]. Stem cell derived exosomes are a promising tool in the treatment of various diseases, including inflammatory and autoimmune diseases.

## **2 Literature Review**

#### 2.1 Inflammation

Inflammation is a protective mechanism of organisms in response to external or internal stimuli, such as microbial infection, injury, long exposure to irritants or autoimmune disorders. This immune response of the host is essential in order to remove harmful stimuli and induce the healing process. There are two types of inflammation: acute and chronic. Acute inflammation is part of the innate immunity, and the first defense mechanism against microbial and other invaders, or trauma. The symptoms that accompany the acute inflammatory response are well known and include redness, swelling, pain and heat [65]. Chronic inflammation occurs when a stimulus persists for an extended period of time, and so the immune system continues to pump out white blood cells and chemical messengers that prolong the process. Those cells end up attacking nearby healthy tissues and organs.

Through the years it has been shown that inflammation is a much more complex system than first thought, and there are various regulatory mechanisms that mediate this process. Inflammation is involved in a great range of physiological or pathological mechanisms. Consequently, research in this field has grown tremendously over the last years, but the extend of its effects on human health is not yet completely unraveled [171].

#### 2.1.1 Inflammatory diseases

Inflammatory diseases include a vast array of clinical disorders that are characterized by inflammation, and in particular, chronic inflammation, which is tightly linked to the pathogenesis of these disorders. For example, obesity can cause inflammation, and chronic inflammation can cause diabetes associated with obesity, due to insulin resistance [66]. In rheumatoid arthritis, the lining of the joint, known as the "synovium", suffers from chronic inflammation due to the existence of macrophages and lymphocytes. As a result, synovial cells are triggered and they secrete synovial fluid. Consequently, billions of neutrophils invade the synovial fluid, further aggravating the chronic inflammation through enzymic

action of dead neutrophils [67]. Inflammation is a complex condition associated with a great range of diseases, such as neurodegenerative diseases (Parkinson's disease, Alzheimer's disease, multiple sclerosis), diseases of the digestive system (inflammatory bowel disease), or autoimmune diseases (arthritis, type 1 diabetes, psoriasis, cancer) among others.

#### 2.1.2 Inflammation and exosomes

Among other properties, exosomes are thought to play a significant role in inflammation processes, thanks to their ability to carry proteins and miRNAs that act as modulators of inflammatory responses. Exosomes can modulate gene expression and cellular functions in close and distant cells. As it has been mentioned before, the physiological or pathological state of the parental cell can affect the components carried by exosomes, and thus exosomes are ideal candidates for novel biomarkers, as they can be collected with non-invasive techniques (blood, urine, saliva) [172]. They could be used as diagnostic and prognostic tools in various diseases, as therapeutic molecules, or to prevent the development of diseases, considering their immunoprotective and anti-inflammatory effects [173].

#### 2.2 Stem Cell-derived exosomes and inflammatory diseases

The role of stem cells in the treatment of various inflammatory diseases has been studied extensively. Although many studies are showing promising results, there are others that refer to serious side effects occurring from stem cell therapy. In particular, many studies have proven that the use of MSCs can promote tumor growth. B16 melanoma cells are not capable of forming tumors, but this changed when they were co-injected with MSCs [77]. Human breast cancer cells have a synergistic effect with bone marrow-derived human MSCs in a mouse model, and they result in a more rapid development of metastases.

[78]. There are studies indicating that MSCs derived from various tissues such as bone marrow [79], periodontal ligament [80], and adipose tissue [81] could alleviate colitis. Nevertheless, there are concerns raised about stem cells, and specifically about their engraftment after injection to the body. Exosomes derived from MSCs have the regeneration and immune regulatory properties like MSCs, but they are less cytotoxic and bio-hazardous, and not so easily degraded [82]. They are also nonimmunogenic, and thus they present a lower risk of allogenic immune rejection from the host organism. Furthermore, as nano-sized particles, those molecules have the capacity to pass the blood-brain barrier.

Consequently, there is an urgent need for alternative approaches regarding stem cell therapy. Pivoting from cell transplantation techniques to cell free therapeutic approaches has been the subject of thorough investigation. To this direction, paracrine factors of stem cells, and especially exosomes, are showing promising results. This thesis investigates the potential role of stem cell-derived exosomes in the treatment of many inflammatory diseases, as an alternative and promising therapeutic approach. Up to date, there are no full-scale clinical trials using stem-cell derived exosome-based treatments, and hence, the results presented below are obtained through in vitro experiments or in vivo animal-based studies.

#### 2.2.1 Gastrointestinal tract

#### • Inflammatory Bowel Disease

Inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) is a general term used to describe disorders that involve chronic inflammation of the gastrointestinal tract. IBD typically includes ulcerative colitis (UC) and Crohn's disease (CD). Symptoms include diarrhea, rectal bleeding, abdominal pain and distension, anorexia and emesis. The number of IBD patients has dramatically increased over the last decade, and it is currently classified as the second most prevalent (after rheumatoid arthritis) chronic inflammatory disease [174]. The exact cause of IBD remains unknown, nevertheless it is believed that there are a lot of factors that affect the pathogenesis and severity of the disease, such as the diet, the environment, immunological conditions and genetic background, but to name a few [174]. There is no successful etiological treatment up until today, only symptomatic but unsatisfactory, and new therapeutic approaches are needed.

There is growing interest regarding the effects of stem cell-derived exosomes in the treatment of IBD and the research conducted exhibits promising results. MSCs are adult stem cells located in bone marrow, fat (adipose tissue), and there are also fetal MSCs in the umbilical cord tissue (Wharton's Jelly), or amniotic fluid. Their role is to repair skeletal tissue, such as bone, fat found in bone marrow and cartilage. There is growing evidence suggesting that MSCs hold therapeutic potential in the treatment of IBD and other diseases, however studies have shown that their therapeutic efficacy is mainly attributed to their paracrine factors and not to their own engraftment on the target tissue [68,69].

It has been proved that exosomes secreted by human umbilical cord MSCs cells (hucMSCs) can ameliorate dextran sulfate sodium (DSS)-induced IBD in mice [70]. In particular, it is known that in IBD the chronic inflammation of the gastrointestinal tract results in the infiltration of inflammatory cells, mainly macrophages, and when they are stimulated they release cytokines and enzymes, that further aggravate the injury of the intestine [71]. Both the expression of iNOS and infiltration of macrophages to the injured tissues were lower in IBD mice treated with exosomes [70]. Furthermore, this treatment decreased the expression of proinflammatory cytokines (TNF-a, IL-1*\beta*, and IL-6) and increased the expression of anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 [70]. Moreover, exosomes from hucMSCs were found to suspend the expression of IL-7 pleiotropic cytokine in the colon mucosa tissues and spleens, and in peritoneal macrophages of IBD mice, indicating the suppressive role of exosomes on the expression of IL-7 cytokine in macrophages [70].

Another study indicated that there is a synergistic effect of melatonin and adiposederived MSCs (ADMSC)-derived exosomes on amelioration of DSS-induced acute inflammatory colitis (AIC) in rats [72]. Specifically, the combination of exosome and melatonin therapy caused a reduction of circulating inflammatory mediators (such as inflammatory cells and cytokines), improved permeability and injury of the colon, and suppressed the inflammatory reaction and the generation of oxidative stress [72].

Yang *et.al* proved that IFN- $\gamma$  treatment assists MSCs-derived exosomes to attenuate colitis by increasing the level of miR-125a and miR125-b which bind on Stat3 to repress Th17 cell differentiation [73]. In a recent study, EVs derived from inflammatory cytokines (TNF- $\alpha$ and IFN- $\gamma$ ) pretreated canine stem cells showed therapeutic potential in a murine colitis model by enhancing the regulation of immune cells [74]. It is known that chronic

inflammation of the gastrointestinal tract can result in the development of colitisassociated cancer (CAC) triggered by oncogenic factors [75]. The use of MSCs are showing promising results in the reduction of the protracted inflammation resulting to cancer, by the regulation of Treg cells [76]. However, it is possible that paracrine factors of MSCs were involved in this mechanism.

Another study investigated the role of bone marrow MSCs (BMSCs) derived EVs in an ulcerative colitis model. Their findings suggested that BMSCs EVs promoted M2-like macrophage polarization and relieved inflammatory responses, improving DSS-induced UC [83]. When MSC-Exos were systematically infused during the onset of the disease, it was observed that the severity of acute colitis was reduced, and their administration also ameliorated the severity of chronic colitis [83]. Ubiquitination is a mechanism involved in the regulation of many physiological and pathological processes, and it is also involved in the regulation of inflammation. It has been shown that this process is used by exosomes derived from umbilical cord MSCs to alleviate IBD in mice [84]. It is suspected that by regulating the ubiquitin modification level, hucMSC-ex treatment resulted in the recovery of the integrity of tissue structure [84]. HucMSC-Ex treatment also relieves DSS-induced IBD in a mouse model by inhibiting neddylation through miR-326 [85].

Yang *et. al* showed that EVs derived from bone marrow MSCs can improve colitis in mice through inhibition of inflammation and oxidative stress [86]. Most particularly, in this experiment BMSC-EVs down regulated levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines, inhibited NF- $\kappa$ Bp65 signal transduction pathways, modulated anti-oxidant and oxidant balance, and moderated the apoptotic mechanism [86]. Another study suggests similar results. EVs derived from human placental MSCs were tested for the treatment of IBD and the results showed that when they were injected in situ, they alleviated hapten reagent 2,4,6trinitrobenzene sulfonic acid (TNBS)-induced colitis by inhibiting inflammation and oxidative stress [86]. In particular, the injection of EVs regulated the balance of pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokines, it suppressed oxidative stress by decreasing the activity of myeloperoxidase (MPO) and ROS, and promoted mucosal healing [86].

An interesting experiment confirmed the theory that the anti-inflammatory properties of stem cells are mainly a result of their secretome. Specifically, tonsil-derived MSCs (TMSC) were injected intraperitoneal in acute and chronic murine colitis models and improved the disease activity index, the length of the colon and the expression levels of proinflammatory cytokines [87]. Nevertheless, during the experiments TMSC weren't observed to the inflammation site of the intestine, and thus further research was

conducted to investigate whether the effects of TMSC were actually the effect of conditioned medium (CM) secreted by those cells (TMSC-MC) [88]. It was observed that TMSC-CM presented equivalent efficacy compared to TMSC, regarding the overall improvement of inflammation. Similar results were obtained in a study with MSCs-derived exosomes in a defined medium, and their anti-inflammatory properties were proved more efficient than those of MSCs [89].

Consequently, there is strong evidence suggesting that a cell free therapeutic approach for IBD patients may be possible in the future, although more data is needed in order to support this suggestion.

• Periodontitis

Periodontitis, also called "gum disease" is the result of chronic inflammation of the periodontium due to bacterial infection. It damages the soft tissues and bone that supports the teeth. In periodontitis, the increase of proinflammatory macrophages and the decrease of anti-inflammatory macrophages is a factor that contributes to the pathogenesis of the disease.

Dental pulp stem cell-derived exosomes (DPSC-Exo) are thought to be an efficacious treatment for periodontitis. A study investigated the effectiveness of DPSC-Exo-incorporated chitosan hydrogel (DPSC-Exo/CS) and it was shown that the hydrogel can induce the healing of periodontal epithelium and alveolar bone in a murine model [90]. In particular, DPSC-Exo/CS inhibited the conversion of pro-inflammatory macrophages to an anti-inflammatory phenotype, which could be a result of miR-1246 found in DPSC-Exo [90].

Moreover, MSC-derived exosomes are thought to induce regeneration of periodontal tissue and ameliorate periodontal ligament cell functions [91]. Human MSC exosomeloaded collagen sponge was used to investigate their effect to surgically created periodontal defects in rats [91]. It was observed that in treated rats there was significant regeneration of periodontal tissues (newly formed bone and periodontal ligament), and increased cellular infiltration and proliferation [91].

Wang *et. al* evaluated the role of gingival MSCs (GMSC) exosomes in macrophage polarization under inflammation, and the results have shown that they may induce M1 macrophage transformation into M2 macrophages, causing a reduction of the pro-

inflammatory factors produced by M1 macrophages [92]. Consequently, GMSC reduce inflammation and could hold potential therapeutic effects in the treatment of periodontitis, although their efficacy in this disease has not been studied yet.

#### 2.2.2 Nervous system

Stem cell-derived exosomes are proven to be effective in the treatment of various neurodegenerative disorders, such as Alzheimer's Disease, Parkinson's Disease, Multiple Sclerosis, and other conditions of the nervous system, including stroke and brain injury, among others. They seem to exert their therapeutic potential by promoting neuroprotection, neurogenesis, neuromodulation and angiogenesis. In many studies, it was demonstrated that they can induce the restoration of damaged neurons and prevent cell death and apoptosis. It is also believed that stem cell-derived exosomes reduce oxidative stress, which can aggravate many diseases, as well as microglia-induced neuroinflammation, while their immunoregulative properties are useful in the treatment of neurodegenerative disorders.

• Alzheimer's Disease

Alzheimer's disease (AD) is a progressive disorder that causes the degeneration of brain cells and is characterized by cognitive decline. It is the main form of dementia and the pathology of the disease involves the presence of amyloid  $\beta$  plaques and tau-enriched neurofibrillary tangles. In the past decade, a third pathological factor is under investigation: the presence of an immune response of the brain. When brain's macrophages (microglia) and other cells of the immune system are activated, they exacerbate amyloid and tau pathology, which could be involved in the pathogenesis of the disease [93]. There are many studies indicating that inflammation plays a significant role in the pathogenesis of AD. While life expectancy is rising, an increasing number of people are affected by the disease, imposing a great financial burden to health system. Consequently, there is an urgent need for the development of novel therapeutic approaches for AD. The efficacy of stem cell treatment has been investigated in preclinical studies, giving discord results, which have limited the clinical development of this therapeutic plan. Hence, there is a growing need for robust therapeutic approaches. There is a growing number of studies regarding the role of stem cell-derived exosomes in the treatment of AD, most of them suggesting that they hold great potential, with their donor-derived properties, easy storage, low immunogenicity and low risk of tumor development.

In AD, amyloid- $\beta$  peptide (A $\beta$ ) is accumulated in the brain and mediates the neuroinflammatory process. The activation of brain's macrophages regulates the immune response of the nervous system. Human umbilical cord MSC-derived exosomes (hucMSC-exosomes) are mimicking the therapeutic properties of hucMSCs in various inflammatory diseases. In a study, hucMSC-exosomes were used into AD mouse models, and it was observed that they improved cognitive functions, reduced the deposition of A $\beta$ , and modulated the activation of microglia [94]. Moreover, they regulated inflammatory cytokines in peripheral blood and brains of mice, and their immunoregulating effects were also sustained in vitro [94].

One of many factors that is believed to accelerate the pathogenic process in AD is neuroinflammation. The immunomodulatory properties of MSCs are well known, and they are mainly attributed to the secretion of EVs. There are many studies reporting the MSC-EVs properties in regulating inflammatory responses, in which they were administered intravenously or via intracerebroventricular administration in AD mouse models. However, some interesting studies are referring to the intranasal route of administration. In particular, EVs derived from MSCs that were cytokine-preconditioned were administered intranasally to AD mouse models, and they induced immunomodulatory and neuroprotective effects [95]. MSC-EVs crossed the blood brain barrier and reached the brain, where they moderated the activation of microglia cells and they increased dendritic spine density [95]. When tested in vitro, they polarized primary microglia cells into an anti-inflammatory phenotype, which means that their neuroprotective effects could arise from a positive modulation of the inflammatory status [95]. Another study showed similar results, in which secretome collected from MSC exposed in vitro to AD mouse brain homogenates (MSC-CS) was instranasally administered to mice [96]. It was observed that when administered weekly, MSC-CS induced recovery of memory and reduction of plaques, lowered the density of  $\beta$ -amyloid oligomers, and decreased gliosis and the phagocytic marker CD68 [96]. This noninvasive route of administration along with the anti-inflammatory properties of stem cell-derived exosomes, could lead in easier translational exploitation in AD patients.

A problem regarding the use of MSC-Exo in AD, is that when injected intravenously, they could be tracked in other tissues and not on the targeted regions of the brain. Hence, a study proposed a way to overcome this pitfall. Specifically, central nervous system-specific rabies viral glycoprotein (RVG) was conjugated with MSC-Exo through a DOPE-NHS linker, and the brain of transgenic APP/PS1 mice was targeted [97]. The results demonstrated increased delivery of exosomes to the desired site, an amelioration in cognitive functions, a reduction in plaque deposition and A $\beta$  levels, and moderated levels of inflammatory cytokines [97].

Adipose-derived stem cells (ADSC) could be used in the therapy of neurodegenerative diseases such as AD. ADCS-Exosomes have shown modulating effects in AD in vitro models, by ameliorating the progression of A $\beta$ -induced neuronal death [98]. Also, ADSC-Exo are carrying enzymatically active neprilysin, which is the most important  $\beta$ -amyloid peptide (A $\beta$ )-degrading enzyme in the brain, and this degrading capacity holds therapeutic potential against AD [98].

Neural stem cells also secrete exosomes. Exosomes secreted by neural stem cells under the presence of heat-shock were isolated, and it was observed that they were larger in size and showed higher concentration compared to neural stem cell-derived exosomes that were isolated under physiological conditions [99]. When those cells were administered to an AD mouse model, they improved cognitive and motor function, and their overall neuroprotection properties were higher [99]. It seems that under heat-shock stimulus, the exosomal cargo and morphology is altered, although the mechanism behind those characteristics remains unknown. Another study investigated the role of neural stem cell (NSC)-derived EVs in a mouse model of AD, and it was observed that they improved cognitive deficits, mitochondrial function, synaptic activity and SIRT1 activation, and decreased inflammatory response [100].

MSC-derived EVs are believed to have therapeutic effects in various neurological diseases, such as stroke, multiple sclerosis and hypoxic-ischemic brain injury. Their efficacy in the treatment of AD was evaluated in a study. Specifically, intracerebroventricle injection of MSC-derived EVs was administered to mice, and it was demonstrated that their use significantly reduced A $\beta$  induced iNOS expression, ameliorated cognitive behavior and rescued impairment of CA1 synaptic transmission [101]. Soluble oligomers of the amyloid- $\beta$  peptide (A $\beta$ Os) are involved in neuronal oxidative stress and synapse damage, causing neurodegeneration and deterioration of cognitive functions in AD [102]. The neuroprotective potential of MSCs and MSC-derived EVs against the damaging effect of A $\beta$ Os on nerves of the hippocampus was evaluated [102]. It was shown that both MSCs

and MSC-derived EVs protect neurons against A $\beta$ O-induced oxidative stress and damage of the synapses through different mechanisms: loss of pre- and postsynaptic markers; internalization and degradation of A $\beta$ Os; release of EVs containing active catalase; and secretion of IL-6, IL-10 and vascular endothelial growth factor to the medium [102].

Furthermore, bone marrow-derived MSCs (BM-MSCs) have been proven to ameliorate cognitive function in AD murine models by improving astrocytic inflammation and synaptogenesis [103]. When BM-MSCs were injected intracerebroventricularly, they attached to the choroid plexus in the lateral ventricle, and thus, it is hypothesized that BM-MSCs secrete exosomes into the cerebrospinal fluid [103]. Astrocytes internalized miR-146a secreted by BM-MSC-derived exosomes, and it was observed that the level of NF-κB in them was decreased [103]. This improvement of astrocytic function could be the key mechanism behind synaptogenesis and the overall amelioration of cognitive impairment. BM-MSC-derived exosomes were also proven efficient in improving the destructive structural changes in the taste buds, which is also a clinical manifestation of AD [104].

The reduction of A $\beta$  accumulation could be used as a therapeutic mechanism for treating AD. In an interesting study, human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells (hucMSCs) were cultured in both 3D graphene scaffold and 2D graphene film that were used as a matrix [105]. Subsequently, the supernatant that included secreted exosomes was collected. It was observed that exosomes obtained from 3D culture were dramatically different in terms of their cargo than those obtained from 2D cultures. 3D-Exo could upregulate the expression of  $\alpha$ -secretase and down-regulate the  $\beta$ -secretase in order to decrease the production of A $\beta$  in AD experimental models [105]. 3D-Exo improved memory and cognitive deficits in AD mice [105].

Moreover, it is reported that exosomes derived from DPSCs can reduce cytotoxicity and apoptosis caused by A $\beta$  peptide [106]. This study showed that the secretome of DPSCs contains higher concentrations of VEGF, Fractalkine, RANTES, MCP-1, and GM-CSF than the secretome of bone marrow and adipose stem cells [106].

• Multiple sclerosis

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is a chronic inflammatory, autoimmune and demyelinating disease of the central nervous system (CNS). The neurological disability is the result of neuronal

injury caused by the attack of autoreactive T cells to CNS. There are multiple medications available for the treatment of MS, nevertheless, none of them can stop disease progression or reverse neuronal damage. In preclinical studies stem cells have shown immunomodulatory and immunosuppressive properties and they could be used in the treatment of MS. Nevertheless, there are some challenges in stem cell therapy, such as mal-differentiation, tumor formation and lung entrapment. Exosomes secreted from stem cells don't present these drawbacks and it makes them an attractive alternative for the treatment of neurodegenerative disorders such as MS.

In MS patients, the progression of the disease depends on microglia function and balance in their M1/M2 phenotypes (M1/M2). There is evidence supporting that bone marrow mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes (BMSC-Exo) hold therapeutic potential in many autoimmune diseases and they have regenerative effects in damaged tissue. The effects of exosomes on microglia polarization and inflammation in CNS were investigated in an experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) rat model [107]. It was shown that BMSC-Exo can reduce inflammation and demyelination of the CNS in an in vivo rat model, through modulation of inflammatory cytokines and polarization of microglia respectively [107].

Furthermore, MSC-Exo can reduce the inflammatory response of lymphocytes, and increase Treg engraftment, which leads to a significant reduction of clinical symptoms in a murine model of relapsing remitting MS [108]. They also improve motor function, reduce damage in oligodendroglia populations, and increase myelination in the spinal cord of treated EAE murine model, by inducing endogenous oligodendrocyte precursor cells to differentiate into mature myelinating oligodendrocytes [109].

In conclusion, stem-cell derived exosomes is a novel and promising therapeutic alternative in the treatment of degenerative disorders such as Alzheimer's disease, Multiple Sclerosis, compared to cell-based treatment that has not been proven effective. Additional studies in this field are required, and efficacy as well as safety standards should be established in order to translate the promising results into clinical applications.

#### 2.2.3 Autoimmune disorders

#### • Arthritis

Arthritis is characterized by pain and inflammation in a joint. The most common types of arthritis are rheumatoid arthritis (RA) and osteoarthritis (OA). For many years, it was believed that only rheumatoid arthritis is associated with inflammation, when osteoarthritis was considered non-inflammatory. Nevertheless, there are studies indicating that inflammation plays a significant role in the pathogenesis and progression of osteoarthritis as well [111, 112]. RA is considered an autoimmune disorder, when OA is classified as a degenerative disorder that occurs overtime due to breakdown of the cartilage and the bones. The use of stem cell-derived exosomes in the treatment of both conditions is undergoing extensive research, and the results are quite promising.

Stem cell therapy in rheumatic diseases has been thoroughly investigated over the last years, and some studies have progressed to the clinical level. However, there is growing interest considering the effects of stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles in the treatment of OA and RA, due to their sometimes-improved efficacy and low immunogenicity. MSCs and MSC-derived exosomes induce repair and regeneration of tissues, promote chondrogenesis, and they have immunomodulatory effects via regulating immune cells and inflammatory factors. Exosomes appear to have more advantages over their parental cells and thus they are a promising cell-free approach in the treatment of those diseases.

There are many animal model-based studies indicating that MSC-derived exosomes could be efficient in the treatment of OA. Exosomes derived from human embryonic stem cells induced repair of the cartilage by increasing proliferation, reducing apoptosis and modulating the reaction of the immune system in a murine model with osteochondral defects that were created on the trochlear grooves [113]. Exosomes regulated the infiltration of M1 and M2 macrophages, with a concomitant decrease in inflammatory cytokines, while also affecting the chondrocyte proliferation and migration, and matrix synthesis [113]. Zhang et al. also compared the effects of hEMSC- derived exosomes and phosphate buffered saline (PBS) in a rat model with the same defects as the previous study. The appearance of exosome-treated defects was enhanced, which was confirmed with histological evaluation, while cartilage and bone were repaired, compared to PBStreated defects [114].

In another study, the efficacy of induced pluripotent stem cell-derived MSCs (iMSC-Exos) was compared to the efficacy of synovial membrane derived MSCs (SMMSC-Exos) in a

murine OA model induced by collagenase. The study suggested that while both iMSC-Exos and SMMSC-Exos induced chondrocyte proliferation, iMSC-Exos were more efficient in the attenuation of OA. Specifically, histological evaluation demonstrated that the cartilage in iMSC-Exos group was similar to normal cartilage. This observation was further confirmed by immunohistochemistry analysis, which indicated that both in the iMSC-Exos group and in the control group the expression of collagen II was similar [115]. The effect of bone marrow-derived MSC-Exos (BM-MSC-Exos) was investigated in another collagenase-induced OA model in mice. It was shown that BM-MSC-Exos reduced the apoptosis of chondrocytes, increased the differentiation of macrophages and suppressed the immune system, which resulted in the overall protection of cartilage and bone [116].

As it has been mentioned before, the dimensional environment of exosomal cultures could affect their efficacy and functions. Jarmalavičiūtė et al. demonstrated that exosomes secreted from cells that are cultured in a 3D environment present enhanced biological functions, and are more productive and active than those grown in a typical 2D culture [117]. Another study suggested that exosomes collected from 3D cultures of umbilical cord MSCs (U-MSCs) in a hollow-fiber bioreactor demonstrate enhanced osteochondral regeneration activity [118]. Those exosomes presented improved chondroprotective properties by inducing proliferation, migration and matrix synthesis of chondrocytes and reducing apoptosis [118].

Some studies are focusing on reinforcing exosomes' existing functions. For example, in a meniscus OA rat model, exosomes derived from synovial MSCs that were overexpressing miR-140-5p, were shown to ameliorate proliferation and migration of the chondrocytes and they prevented the development of OA in the knee [119]. Similarly, hEMSCs-derived exosomes can improve regeneration of the cartilage after injection in a meniscus OA murine model [120], while EVs secreted from the same type of cells can inhibit the progression of the disease in a rat model with osteochondral defects [121]. In another study, chondral defects were surgically created in the femoral condyles of nine dogs and the injection of mouse BMSC-derived EVs led to the recovery of injured cartilage and chondral tissue [122]. Furthermore, in a collagenase induced murine arthritis model, the immunomodulatory function of MSC-derived exosomes and microparticles was compared, and it was shown that both of them present anti-inflammatory effects on T and B lymphocytes, however Exos were proven more efficient in suppressing inflammation in vivo [123].

Exosomes derived from human infrapatellar fat MSCs are rich in miR-100-5p, and when they were injected in the articular joint of OA mice, the progression of the disease was

restrained, articular damage was improved and gait was ameliorated, via inhibition of mTOR autophagy pathway [124]. Another study suggested that amniotic fluid stem cellderived exosomes have therapeutic effects in OA in a rat model, and more specifically, they increase pain tolerance and improve histological score [125]. After three weeks of treatment, exosomes that were rich in TGF $\beta$  led to the restoration of cartilage, with good surface regularity and with the characteristic of hyaline cartilage [125]. Moreover, after treatment, a significant increase in markers of resolving macrophages (CD163, arginase 1, and TGF $\beta$ ) was observed [125].

It is believed that miRNAs are involved in the pathogenesis of rheumatoid arthritis. As mentioned before, exosomes are carriers of genetic information from a cell to another, such as miRNAs, and they have been studied as potential vehicles of therapeutic molecules. MiR-146 and miR-155 are considered regulators of primary immune response. Tavasolian *et.* al investigated the therapeutic effect of miR-146a/miR-155 transduced MSC-derived exosomes on the immune response [126]. Exosomes were collected from MSCs over-expressing miR-146a/miR-155, and splenocytes were isolated from collagen-induced arthritis (CIA) and control mice [126]. Then, the effects of those exosomes on regulatory T-cell (Treg) levels was measured [126]. The results showed that exosomes seem to promote the transfer of miRNAs among cells, making them candidates for the treatment of RA. MSC-derived exosomes that are manipulated with anti-inflammatory miRNA could lead to the increase of Treg cell populations and anti-inflammatory cytokines [126].

A previous study was the first to mention that BM-MSC-derived exosomes can transfer mir-150-5p to the joints. Chen *et.* al demonstrated the therapeutic effect of MSC–derived miR-150-5p exosomes on joint destruction in RA [127]. In this study, exosomes from miR-150-5p–expressing MSCs were isolated, and their effects were examined on fibroblastlike synoviocytes (FLS) from patients with RA both in vitro and in vivo in a CIA mouse model [127]. Analysis of patients with RA and FLS from RA showed that miR-150-5p expression was significantly lower in RA than in OA, whereas vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and matrix metalloproteinase (MMP) 14

expression and angiogenesis were increased in RA compared with OA [127]. MiR150-5p was transferred to BM-MSCs and subsequently transferred by exosomes to RA-FLS. Exo-150 suppressed the expression of the target genes MMP14 and VEGF; therefore decreased migration and invasion, inhibited angiogenesis in vitro, and alleviated the symptoms of RA in vivo [127]. Recently, it was found that the expression of miR-192-5p was decreased in RA-FLS, and it was shown that miR-192-5p targeted and down-regulated C3 botulinum toxin substrate 2 (RAC2). Specifically, MSC-exosomal miR192-5p was injected in a CIA rat model, reached the synovial tissue via the blood circulation, and decreased the levels of RAC2, reduced the clinical score and inhibited hyperplasia of the synovium and joint degeneration [128]. In addition, MSC-exosome-miR-192-5p down-regulated the levels of proinflammatory cytokines in synovial tissues and serum and decreased the release of NO and inducible NO synthase (iNOS) in the serum of rats [128].

The effect of MSC-derived exosomes loaded with microRNA-320a (miR-320a) on the regulation of RA-FLSs was evaluated [129]. In a CIA mouse model with arthritis and bone damage, in the presence of miR-320a, CXC chemokine ligand 9 (CXCL9) was downregulated and led to the restoration of RA-FLS function, via suppressing activation, migration and invasion of RA-FLSs [129]. Consequently, MSC-derived exosomes participate in the transfer of miR-320a and inhibit the progression of RA [129]. In another in vitro experiment, it was found that when MSC-derived exosomes overexpressing miRNA-124-a were co-incubated with hMSC-124a-EV, they could inhibit cell proliferation, migration and promote apoptosis in FLS cell line [131].

• Diabetes

Diabetes is a chronic metabolic disorder affecting the glucose levels in the bloodstream. Hyperglycemia as a result of diabetes could lead to end organ failure. There are two broad categories of diabetes, type 1 and type 2 diabetes. Some predisposing factors of the disease include obesity, diet, genetic and environmental factors. Scientists have been focusing on researching the role of adipose tissue, pancreatic beta cell function and gut microbiome in the pathogenesis of the disease, and many clinical trials are in progress. There is growing interest in the role of inflammation in the pathophysiology of both types of diabetes, and targeting inflammation to prevent or control the disease is an emerging goal. Consequently, future research should focus on finding ways to suppress the inflammatory responses that are involved in T1D and T2D, and exosomes, with their immunomodulatory and regenerative capacity, could play a significant role towards this direction.

Exosomes derived from stem cells are known for their immunomodulatory effects in various autoimmune and inflammatory diseases, and experiments show that they can

also be used in the treatment of diabetes. A study demonstrated that exosomes derived from adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells (AD-MSCs) have immunomodulatory effects of T-cell inflammatory response, and thus they reduce the symptoms of streptozotocin-induced type-1 diabetes mellitus in a mouse model [132]. Intraperitoneal injections of autologous AD-MSC-derived exosomes were performed, and in the treated group of mice it was observed that interleukin-4 (IL-4), IL-10, and transforming growth factor- $\beta$  increased, whereas IL-17 and interferon- $\gamma$  decreased, in concordance with the significant increase in the Treg cell ratio in splenic MNCs, compared with T1DM untreated mice [132]. An increase of islets was also observed, while body weight and glucose level remained stable in the two groups [132]. Consequently, AD-MSC's exosomes treatment led to the amelioration of autoimmune reaction, which makes them candidates for the treatment of type 1 diabetes. In another study, the effects of MSC-derived EVs in two autoimmune diseases were evaluated: type 1 diabetes and uveoretinitis [133]. It was concluded that EVs secreted from MSCs effectively prevent the onset of the diseases, by inhibiting the activation of antigen-presenting cells and suppressing the development of T helper 1 (Th1) and Th17 cells [133].

Stem cell-derived exosomes present promising results in the treatment of type 2 diabetes as well. Specifically, hucMSC-derived exosomes were tested in a rat model of T2DM, induced by a fat diet and streptozotocin [134]. The intravenous injection of exosomes reduced the glucose levels in the blood, partially reversed peripheral insulin resistance and inhibited  $\beta$ -cell destruction, by restoring the phosphorylation (tyrosine site) of the insulin receptor substrate 1 and protein kinase B, increasing glycogen storage in the liver, and promoting expression of glycose transporter 4 in the muscles [134]. Another study evaluated the effects of hUCMSC-derived exosomes on hepatic glucose and lipid metabolism in T2DM in vivo model. It was demonstrated that hUCMSC-derived exosomes improved hepatic glucose and lipid metabolism through the activation of autophagy via the AMPK pathway [135].

There are studies aiming at the restoration and regeneration of  $\beta$ -cells of pancreatic islets, the main cells that are undergoing mass and function diminish in diabetic patients. A recent study presented the effects of menstrual blood mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes in the pancreas of diabetic mice [136]. Specifically, exosomes derived from menstrual blood MSCs enhanced the  $\beta$ -cell mass and the insulin production, while the presence of insulin in the pancreatic islets was confirmed through immunohistochemistry analysis [136]. It is believed that the regenerative effects of exosomes in the islets is a result of pancreatic and duodenal homeobox 1 pathway [136].

The current treatment options of diabetes mellitus include life-long administration of insulin and other medication. Despite advances in the therapeutic plan, more invasive solutions like islet transplantation pose important difficulties and thus they are not practical for most patients. However, the use of exosomes could ameliorate the success rate of these operations. An islet transplantation is defined as unsuccessful if there is an immune rejection or poor islet function. As it has been mentioned before, hBMSC-derived exosomes can suppress immune reaction and regulate cell-to-cell communication by delivering RNAs and other molecules between cells. A study proposed their use for promoting islet function and inhibiting immune rejection after transplantation [137]. It was found that these exosomes suppressed the reaction of the immune system by ameliorating the function of regulatory T cells (Treg) and inhibiting the proliferation of peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) [137]. Another reason for dysfunction of beta cells after transplantation is hypoxia. The role of MSC-derived exosomes on beta cells under hypoxic conditions was investigated in a study. Hypoxia caused significant apoptosis of beta cells, but the presence of MSC-Exo improved their survival. The mechanism behind this action includes the inhibition of p38 MAPK signaling pathway, the alleviation of ER stress and the downregulation of apoptosis-related proteins that are upregulated in hypoxia, by carrying miR-21 [138].

Stem cell-derived exosomes could also be used to prevent or repair damage caused by complications of diabetes mellitus, such as impaired wound healing, peripheral neuropathy, nephropathy, retinopathy and cardiovascular disease. Wound complications are common among diabetic patients, and some of the causes include high blood glycose level, neuropathy, poor circulation, immune system deficiencies, and infection, affecting the function of endothelial cells. A great number of studies suggest that stem cell-derived exosomes can improve diabetic wound healing. It was shown that human urine stem cellderived exosomes can promote angiogenesis via transferring a pro-angiogenic protein called deleted in malignant brain tumors 1 (DMBT1) [139]. Diabetic foot ulcers (DFU) could result in infection and amputation. The malfunction of endothelial progenitor cells (EPCs) and high glucose-induced ROS aggravate the disease. The therapeutic effects of adipose stem cell-derived exosomes (ADSC-Exos) on stress-mediated senescence of EPCs induced by high glucose were evaluated in a study [140]. The results suggested that ADSC-Exos promoted proliferation and angiopoiesis in EPCs, and overexpression of Nrf2 accentuated this effect [140]. In vivo, ulcerated areas in the feet of diabetic rats were reduced, and test on wound beds confirmed increased levels of growth factors, granulation tissue formation and vascularization, and reduced levels of inflammation and oxidative stress-related proteins [140]. Furthermore, stem cell-derived exosomes could be combined with chitosan to improve their regenerative effects on injured tissue. A

study demonstrated the therapeutic effects of chitosan wound dressings incorporating exosomes derived from synovium MSCs overexpressing microRNA-126 [141], and another study assessed the effects of gingival MSC-derived exosomes combined with a chitosan/silk hydrogel sponge [142], both on skin defects in diabetic rat models. According to the above studies, the combined therapy ameliorated skin wound healing, by promoting re-epithelialization and collagen maturity, activating angiogenesis and neuronal ingrowth [141,142].

Non-healing diabetic wounds require novel strategies such as stem cell therapy or delivery of miRNAs to the wound site; however, miRNA is easily degradable in the injured tissue. To overcome this pitfall, engineered stem cell-derived exosomes could act as delivery systems of molecules, such as miRNAs, to the wounds. A similar delivery system was developed using human adipose stem-cell derived exosomes, and miR-21-5p mimics were loaded in them by electroporation [143]. The engineered exosomes significantly promoted proliferation and migration of keratinocytes via Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling in vitro, and when tested in vivo, they induced diabetic wound healing [143]. Another technique to enhance the biological functions of stem cell-derived exosomes is to pretreat the parental cells with chemical or biological factors, such as atorvastatin. Bone marrow MSCs were pretreated with atorvastatin, and their secreted exosomes exhibited improved pro-angiogenic ability in diabetic wound healing [144]. Specifically, they ameliorated the function of endothelial cells, via AKT/eNOS pathway, by upregulating the miR-221-3p [144].

Many different types of stem cells are exhibiting promising results in the treatment of diabetic wounds through their paracrine factors, and thus, there is extensive ongoing research regarding the mechanisms behind these properties. For example, exosomes derived from human circulating fibrocytes, a population of mesenchymal progenitor cells, appear to exhibit proangiogenic properties, and specifically, in an in-vivo experiment they induced the migration and proliferation of diabetic keratinocytes, activated diabetic dermal fibroblasts, and accelerated wound closure [145]. Moreover, human endothelial progenitor cell-derived exosomes can improve the function of endothelial cells and promote wound healing [146], and fetal dermal MSC-derived exosomes can induce the proliferation of adult dermal fibroblast cells [147]. Exosomes from menstrual blood-derived MSCs have similar regenerative properties on the skin in an in vivo animal study [148].

Diabetic nephropathy (DN) is the progressive loss of kidney function in diabetic patients. It is one of the main causes of chronic kidney disease (CKD) and end-stage renal disease

(ESRD) globally. Bone marrow-derived MSCs have been proven effective in the improvement of DN, however it is believed that their effects are mainly a result of the action of their paracrine factors. In a study, the effects of renal trophic factors, including exosomes, secreted by MSCs were evaluated [149]. MSCs and MSC-conditioned medium (MSC-CM) were administered to a rat model of T2D induced by high-fat diet, and to a diabetic mouse model of insulin deficiency induced by streptozotocin [149]. Both groups exhibited similar curative effects, and specifically, they inhibited the exacerbation of albuminuria and of proinflammatory cytokine expression and fibrosis in tubular interstitium [149]. Exosomes purified from the conditioned medium reduced the apoptosis of tubular endothelial cells and maintained a tight junction structure [149]. Another study investigated the mechanism behind the protective role of MSC-derived exosomes in chronic renal injury. In this experiment, five groups of in vivo rat models were used, and it was shown through the detection of specific autophagy markers that MSC-derived exosomes restore renal tissues by inducing autophagy via the mTOR signaling pathway [150].

Renal fibrosis is common in diabetic nephropathy. EVs derived from MSCs and human liver stem-like cells (HLSCs) could inhibit the progression and reverse renal fibrosis, as demonstrated in an in vivo experiment. In the groups treated with stem cell-derived EVs, parameters of renal function, such as albumin/creatinine excretion, plasma creatinine and blood urea nitrogen, were ameliorated [151]. Moreover, various pro-fibrotic genes were down-regulated in renal tissues, probably targeted by specific miRNAs that were common in both MSC-EVs and HLSC-EVs. Efforts are also made towards the prevention of the disease in its early stages. For example, urine stem cell-derived exosomes have the potential to prevent kidney injury from diabetes by preventing podocyte apoptosis and inducing vascular regeneration and cell survival, as it has been shown in a T1D murine model [152]. Furthermore, it has been proven that diabetic nephropathy can also be suppressed through the action of stem cell-derived exosomal cargo, such as miRNAs, like miR-26a-5p that is contained in EVs secreted by ADSCs [153]. In diabetic nephropathy, this molecule is present at low levels, while toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4) plasmid levels are high. ADSC-derived EVs, and specifically the miR-26a-5p that they contain, can target TLR4 and protect against diabetic nephropathy [153].

A major complication of diabetes is diabetic peripheral neuropathy (DPN), which can result in morbidity or mortality. High blood glucose can cause damage to the nerves throughout the body. There is no effective treatment, however there are several drugs that can be administered to control the progression of the disease, but nerve injury is irreversible. Stem cell-derived exosomes are promising candidates to improve neurological outcomes of DPN. MSC-derived exosomes were tested in a mouse model, and their effects were evaluated. It was observed that the treatment with MSC-exosomes decreased the threshold for thermal and mechanical stimuli, and increased nerve conduction velocity [154]. Furthermore, MSC-exosomes improved functional recovery of the nerves by suppressing proinflammatory cytokines, and analysis revealed that miRNAs in the exosomes targeted the TLR4/NF-κB signaling pathway [154].

Diabetic retinopathy is a complication that affects the eye of both types of diabetic patients, and it is caused by damage to the blood vessels of the retina, which could result in blindness. There are no effective drugs to reverse the disease progression, and treatment options are mainly focused in the management of diabetes. The effects of MSC-derived exosomes on retinal inflammation were studied. Exosomes were isolated from hUCMSCs, and a transfer of mir-126 followed. Both MSC-Exos and MSC-Exos overexpressing miR-126 were injected intravitreally into diabetic rats in vivo and they were also cocultured with high glucose-affected human retinal endothelial cells (HRECs) in vitro [155]. The results showed that MSC-Exos could reverse the overexpression of caspase-1, interleukin-1 $\beta$  (IL-1 $\beta$ ) and IL-18 that was prevalent in high glucose exposed HRECs and resulted in inflammation [155]. However, MSC-Exos overexpressing miR-126 suppressed inflammation more effectively in diabetic rats, by downregulating the HMGB1 signaling pathway [155]. Another study evaluated the effects of rabbit adipose tissue MSC-derived exosomes in retina regeneration in a rabbit model of streptozotocin induced DM. Exosomes were injected by different routes of administration; intravenously (IV), subconjunctival (SC) and intraocular (IO), and their results in retinal regeneration were evaluated after 12 weeks. It was observed that the retinal tissue expression levels of micRNA-222 were negatively correlated to serum glucose levels, and the increased expression of micRNA-222 was associated with the regenerative effects of MSC-derived exosomes after their injection [156].

Erectile dysfunction is common in men with diabetes, especially as the age progresses. The mechanism behind this complication is complex, and it involves nerve, blood vessel and muscle impairment, due to high blood glucose levels. There are medications that can improve erectile dysfunction, however, taking into consideration that many diabetic patients also suffer from cardiovascular disease, these drugs could have serious side effects, as well as interaction with heart drugs. There are studies suggesting that the transplantation of adipose-derived stem cells can improve diabetic erectile dysfunction. The effects of their paracrine factors, and especially exosomes, in diabetic erectile dysfunction, were further evaluated. In a study, ADSC-derived exosomes (ADSC-Exo) exhibited proangiogenic properties in vitro, promoted the proliferation of endothelial

cells, improved erectile dysfunction in vivo, and inhibited fibrosis of corpus cavernosum [157]. These properties of ADSC-Exo were attributed to the specific proangiogenic and antifibrotic micRNAs that they contained. Another study also investigated the effect of ADSC-Exo on erectile function in a T2DM rat model. Intracavernous injection of ADSC-Exo and ADSCs resulted in an increase in the ratio of intracavernous pressure to mean arterial pressure, inhibited apoptosis of corpus cavernosum endothelial and smooth muscle cells, and thus, led to the promotion of recovery of erectile function [158].

Evidence suggest that there is a strong correlation between cardiovascular disease and diabetes. Diabetic patients are two to four times more likely to die from heart disease than adults without diabetes, and it is considered one of the main major risk factors for cardiovascular disease. Predisposing factors of the development of cardiovascular disease in diabetic patients include hypertension, abnormal cholesterol and high triglycerides, obesity, lack of physical activity, poorly controlled blood glycose levels and smoking. There are studies investigating the possible therapeutic potential of stem cell-derived exosomes on cardiovascular disease as a result of diabetes mellitus. Atherosclerosis is a main complication of DM and it is characterized by endothelial damage and inflammation. Endothelial progenitor cells (EPCs) are prerequisites for blood vessels, they produce many factors to regulate blood vessel function, and repair dysfunctions in endothelial cells [159]. In a study it was found that the most highly expressed miRNAs in exosomes derived from EPCs are associated with atherosclerosis [159]. Hence, scientists investigated the role of these exosomes in the treatment of atherosclerosis, and it was found that they significantly inhibited the production of atherosclerotic plaques and inflammatory factors [159]. Moreover, the exosome treatment improved the endothelium-dependent contractile dysfunction of the thoracic aorta of these mice, in an in vitro assay examination [159]. Another study evaluated the effect of MSC-derived exosomes on diabetes mellitus-induced myocardial injury. A streptozotocin-induced DM rat model was establishes and injections of MSC-derived exosomes were administered for 12 weeks. Subsequently, analysis revealed that the exosome treatment down-regulated the levels of molecules that were up-regulated in the diabetic group, such as the level of LVC, FATPs and FA-β-oxidase, TGF-b1, Smad2 mRNAs, and it was concluded that MSC-derived exosomes improved DM-induced myocardial injury via inhibition of TGF-β1/Smad2 signaling pathway [160].

#### **Methods**

Various procedures were taken in order to ensure a high-quality review of the literature on stem cell-derived exosomes and their role in the therapy of inflammatory diseases. A comprehensive search of peer-reviewed journals was conducted based on a wide range of corresponding search terms alone or in combination, including: stem cells, exosomes, inflammation, autoimmune. Relevant key words were added in accordance with the specific inflammatory disease that was researched. The selection of specific inflammatory diseases, and the amount of preclinical in vitro or animal-based studies that were conducted in the area of research. Three main databases were searched, including PubMed, Google Scholar and Scopus. Papers published in English language from January 2010 to October 2020 were considered. Preliminary screening of papers by scrutinizing the titles and abstracts of the articles resulted in the exclusion of papers not related to the subject of the dissertation. Additional studies were selected manually from the reference section of papers that comply with the selection criteria, and these articles were screened to meet the final selection and exclusion criteria.

#### Results

One hundred and eighty papers were ultimately selected for analysis. After completing the analysis of the literature, it was concluded that stem cell-derived exosomes (SC-Exos) hold great potential in the treatment of multiple inflammatory and autoimmune diseases, such as inflammatory bowel disease, periodontitis, Alzheimer's disease, multiple sclerosis, osteoarthritis, rheumatoid arthritis and diabetes, as well as complications induced by diabetes, including nephropathy, neuropathy, wound healing, retinopathy, erectile dysfunction and cardiovascular disease. Some properties of SC-Exos are related to their parental cells, and others are a result of the molecules that they contain, such as specific mRNAs, miRNAs, and proteins, that they use to interact with cells. Stem cell-derived exosomes act as regulators of various biological processes, including immune response, inflammation and regeneration of tissue. In some experiments, it was shown that their antiinflammatory properties are a result of regulation of inflammatory mediators such as cytokines, infiltration or polarization of inflammatory cells, mainly macrophages, and reduction of oxidative stress. It is reported that they can also overexpress specific mRNAs, or miRNAs, that act as mediators and can affect biological processes, regulate the immune system, alleviate inflammation and promote regeneration. Moreover, SC-Exos contain antiinflammatory molecules such as interleukin 10 (IL-10) and transforming growth factor-β1 (TGF-β1) that have immunoprotective effects. Other studies highlight their immunoregulating properties, by enhancing or regulating the function and expression of immune cells, such as T or Treg cells, or by suppressing the activation and maturation of dendritic cells. The specific microenvironment of SC-Exos can affect their properties, and pre-conditioning, for example under hypoxia, could ameliorate their function. Furthermore, regenerative properties, partly bequeathed by their parental cells, make them promising therapeutic agents in the treatment of degenerative disorders, or in tissue damage. It is believed that SC-Exos induce angiogenesis, collagen and bone synthesis, and they promote the expression of several growth factors (HGF, IGF1, NGF, and SDF1). According to some studies, they also inhibit apoptosis and induce proliferation and function of cells that are involved in the regeneration or protection of tissues, whereas induce

apoptosis of inflammatory or degenerative factors. The mechanism underlying tissue regeneration by SC-Exos has also been linked to the activation of specific wound healing signaling pathways, such as Akt, ERK, and STAT3.

In conclusion, accumulating evidence suggest that SC-Exos are promising candidates in the treatment of multiple inflammatory and autoimmune diseases, but the exact processes by which SC-Exos derive their therapeutic effects from is still under thorough investigation, and many mechanisms behind these processes remain largely unknown.

## Discussion

Over the last years, an increasing number of scientists support that inflammation is emerging as a major predisposal factor that is involved in the pathogenesis of many diseases that were not considered "inflammatory" during the past, perhaps even all of them [175]. Hence, it is a growing necessity to investigate novel therapeutic approaches in the treatment of inflammatory diseases. Stem cells have been in the center of scientific research for many years, due to their regenerative properties and strong immunomodulatory activity [176]. However, the use of stem cell-based therapies has raised serious concerns in the scientific community, due to severe adverse events, such as immune reaction, mal-differentiation, the ability of cells to move from placement sites and the possibility of lung or liver entrapment, abnormalities in the function of the cells, toxicity and tumor formation [177].

Recent studies indicate that the majority of stem cell therapeutic potential, and especially their immunomodulatory and anti-inflammatory properties, can be largely attributed to their paracrine factors, rather than transdifferentiation. Exosomes secreted from stem cells have emerged as powerful components of their secretome, because they carry most of the properties of stem cells, without the risks that are associated with the use of live cells in therapy [178]. Exosomes are nanovesicles, with a diameter ranging between 30 and 150 nm, and unlike their parental cells, they can cross the blood-brain barrier, which makes them appropriate therapeutic candidates for the treatment of neurodegenerative disorders or conditions of the nervous system [179]. Stem-cell derived exosomes are being thoroughly investigated as a cell-free therapeutic alternative, and there are plenty of in vitro or in vivo animal studies that give promising results for the treatment of inflammatory and autoimmune diseases, such as inflammatory bowel disease [81-89], periodontitis [90-92], Alzheimer's disease [93-106], multiple sclerosis [107-110], osteoarthritis and rheumatoid arthritis [111-131], and diabetes [131-138], as well as complications induced by diabetes, including wound healing [139-148], nephropathy [149-153], neuropathy [154], retinopathy [155-156], erectile dysfunction [157-158], and cardiovascular disease [159-160].

There have been more than two hundred preclinical studies of exosome-based therapies in various animal models [180] and a few exosome-based clinical trials are registered [181]. Although the results are promising, there are many unanswered questions to be investigated before clinical studies can be conducted in a greater scale. First of all, the nomenclature regarding exosomes is inconsistent, and there is a lack of standardized characterization techniques [182,186]. Secondly, up to date there is no purification method specially designed for the isolation of exosomes from conditioned media that is completely efficient and meets good manufacturing practice (GMP) standards [183,186]. Different culturing and purification methods of exosomes could lead in contaminated mixtures and inconsistencies in the results among studies [184,185,186]. Consequently, standardized operating procedures regarding the culture conditions and purification methods need to be established. To this direction, specific guidelines regarding purity and the levels of acceptable contamination are of great significance. Moreover, the optimal dose for humans for each disease and condition being treated in not known, and information regarding the number of doses, quantity of dose, as well as route of administration, should be investigated further [186].

Another important aspect in the field of exosomes that needs to be addressed is the exact biogenesis mechanism that remains largely unknown, circulation kinetics and biodistribution, and natural therapeutic potential that needs to be evaluated in potency assays [186]. Also, the investigation of the safety profile of exosomes is of great importance, and while various clinical trials are trying to evaluate the safety of exosomes, many issues are still unsolved. Although stem-cell derived exosomes present specific advantages compared to their parental cells, such as increased consistency, improved efficacy, and larger scalability of manufacturing, it is not yet known if these advantages are reproducible for clinical translation [187]. Another unmet scientific need is the necessity to increase the production of stem-cell derived exosomes, which can be achieved by preconditioning with specific biological factors or chemicals, 3-D culture, bioreactors and microcarriers, and gene editing [183]. It is even more important to establish a method in order to select suitable donors for the production of stem cell-derived exosomes, as well as specific release criteria regarding the size, expression of markers, cargo, and the functionality, before administration to patients. Moreover, the efficacy of stem cell-derived

exosomes can be ameliorated through preconditioning, for example by adding cytokines or chemicals to the cultured medium, or inducing specific conditions, such as hypoxia. Also, CRISPR/Cas9, a genome editing technology can be applied to improve their efficacy. By a deeper understanding of exosomes' biogenesis, these nanovesicles could be engineered and used as vehicles for targeted delivery in molecular therapy [188,189]. Conventional viral vectors are not as resilient, nonimmunogenic and capable of systemic action as exosomes, which makes them a more suitable alternative. Therapeutic molecules, such as specific proteins and RNAs, could be loaded into engineered exosomes that are expressing ligands in order to attach to target cells [189]. This exciting possibility means that in the future exosomes could act as mediators of targeted therapy in many diseases, such as diabetes and neurodegenerative disorders, but further investigation of the efficacy and safety of this practice should be conducted.

Exosome research is in its early stages, and the road from promising observations to clinical applications is long. Currently, exosomes are not yet used in full-scale clinical trials, and progress will depend on the understanding of the mechanisms underlying their biogenesis and function. Many challenges need to be overcome in order to pave the way for applications of these observations in clinical trials, and for new discoveries and potential treatments for various disorders. When these milestones are reached, this very promising field could revolutionize the therapeutic approach in many diseases, and especially in inflammatory and autoimmune conditions.

# Conclusion

Taken together, there is accumulating evidence suggesting that stem-cell derived exosomes have tremendous potential in the treatment of several incurable diseases, and especially inflammatory conditions. Their effects are exerted by complex mechanisms and biological processes, and mainly through the genetic information or bioactive proteins that they contain and can affect the function of targeted cells. Efforts are being made in order to establish specific guidelines and standards for the efficacy and safety of exosomes, in order to accelerate clinical application in the therapy of many diseases.

## References

- Colombo, M., G. Raposo, and C. Thery, *Biogenesis, secretion, and intercellular interactions of exosomes and other extracellular vesicles.* Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol, 2014. 30: p. 255-89.
- 2. Yáñez-Mó M, Siljander PR, Andreu Z, et al. (2015). *Biological properties of extracellular vesicles and their physiological functions.* J Extracell Vesicles. **4**: 27066.
- 3. Anderson, H.C., Vesicles associated with calcification in the matrix of epiphyseal cartilage. J Cell Biol, 1969. **41**(1): p. 59-72.
- 4. Harding C, Heuser J, Stahl P. Endocytosis and intracellular processing of transferrin and colloidal gold-transferrin in rat reticulocytes: demonstration of a pathway for receptor shedding. Eur J Cell Biol. 1984;35:25663.
- 5. Pan BT, Johnstone RM. *Fate of the transferrin receptor during maturation of sheep reticulocytes in vitro: selective externalization of the receptor*. Cell. 1983;33:96778.
- 6. Johnstone RM, Adam M, Hammond JR, Orr L, Turbide C. *Vesicle formation during reticulocyte maturation. Association of plasma membrane activities with released vesicles (exosomes).* J Biol Chem. 1987;262:941220.
- Johnstone, R.M., et al., Vesicle formation during reticulocyte maturation. Association of plasma membrane activities with released vesicles (exosomes). J Biol Chem, 1987.
   262(19): p. 9412-20.
- 8. Valadi, H., et al., *Exosome-mediated transfer of mRNAs and microRNAs is a novel mechanism of genetic exchange between cells.* Nat Cell Biol, 2007. **9**(6): p. 654-9.
- 9. Lasser, C., S.C. Jang, and J. Lotvall, *Subpopulations of extracellular vesicles and their therapeutic potential.* Mol Aspects Med, 2018. **60**: p. 1-14.
- Hessvik NP, Llorente A. Current knowledge on exosome biogenesis and release. Cell Mol Life Sci. 2018;75(2):193-208.
- 11. Hoog, J.L. and J. Lotvall, *Diversity of extracellular vesicles in human ejaculates revealed by cryo-electron microscopy.* J Extracell Vesicles, 2015. **4**: p. 28680.
- Zabeo, D., et al., Exosomes purified from a single cell type have diverse morphology. J Extracell Vesicles, 2017. 6(1): p. 1329476

- van der Pol, E., et al., Recent developments in the nomenclature, presence, isolation, detection and clinical impact of extracellular vesicles. J Thromb Haemost, 2016.
   14(1): p. 48-56.
- Théry, C., et al., Minimal information for studies of extracellular vesicles 2018 (MISEV2018): a position statement of the International Society for Extracellular Vesicles and update of the MISEV2014 guidelines. J Extracell Vesicles, 2018. 7(1): p. 1535750.
- 15. Stein JM, Luzio JP. Ectocytosis caused by sublytic autologous complement attack on human neutrophils. The sorting of endogenous plasma-membrane proteins and lipids into shed vesicles. Biochem J. 1991 Mar 1;274 (Pt 2)(Pt 2):381-6.
- 16. Cocucci E, Meldolesi J. *Ectosomes and exosomes: shedding the confusion between extracellular vesicles.* Trends Cell Biol. 2015 Jun;25(6):364-72.
- Théry C. Exosomes: secreted vesicles and intercellular communications. F1000 Biol. Rep. 2011;3(July):15.
- Denzer K, Kleijmeer MJ, Heijnen HF, Stoorvogel W, Geuze HJ. Exosome: from internal vesicle of the multivesicular body to intercellular signaling device. J. Cell Sci. 2000;113 Pt 19:3365–74.
- 19. Théry C, Zitvogel L, Amigorena S. Exosomes: composition, biogenesis and function. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 2002;2(8):569–79.
- 20. Colombo M, Moita C, van Niel G, et al. *Analysis of ESCRT functions in exosome biogenesis, composition and secretion highlights the heterogeneity of extracellular vesicles.* J. Cell Sci. 2013;126:5553–5565.
- 21. Trajkovic K, Hsu C, Chiantia S, et al. *Ceramide triggers budding of exosome vesicles into multivesicular endosomes.* Science. 2008;319:1244–1247.
- 22. Drake MT, Shenoy SK, Lefkowitz RJ. *Trafficking of G protein-coupled receptors*. Circ. Res. 2006;99:570–582
- Colombo, M., et al., Analysis of ESCRT functions in exosome biogenesis, composition and secretion highlights the heterogeneity of extracellular vesicles. J Cell Sci, 2013. 126(Pt 24): p. 5553-65.
- 24. Choi, D.S., et al., *Proteomics, transcriptomics and lipidomics of exosomes and ectosomes.* Proteomics, 2013. 13(10-11): p. 1554-71.

- 25. Mathivanan S, Ji H, Simpson RJ. *Exosomes: extracellular organelles important in intercellular communication*. J. Proteomics. 2010;73:1907–1920.
- 26. Mathivanan S, Fahner CJ, Reid GE, Simpson RJ. *ExoCarta 2012: database of exosomal proteins, RNA and lipids*. Nucleic Acids Res. 2012 Jan;40(Database issue):D1241-4
- Valadi, H., Ekström, K., Bossios, A. et al. Exosome-mediated transfer of mRNAs and microRNAs is a novel mechanism of genetic exchange between cells. Nat Cell Biol 9, 654–659 (2007).
- 28. 195. Valadi H, Ekström K, Bossios A, Sjöstrand M, Lee JJ, Lötvall JO. *Exosomemediated transfer of mRNAs and microRNAs is a novel mechanism of genetic exchange between cells.* Nat. Cell Biol. 2007;9:654–659
- 29. 196. De Jong OG, Verhaar MC, Chen Y, et al. *Cellular stress conditions are reflected in the protein and RNA content of endothelial cell-derived exosomes.* J. Extracell. Vesicles. 2012;1.
- 199. Hergenreider E, Heydt S, Tréguer K, et al. Atheroprotective communication between endothelial cells and smooth muscle cells through miRNAs. Nat. Cell Biol. 2012;14:249–256.
- 31. 197. Gallo A, Tandon M, Alevizos I, Illei GG. *The Majority of MicroRNAs Detectable in Serum and Saliva Is Concentrated in Exosomes.* PLoS One. 2012;7:e30679
- 32. 198. Turchinovich A, Weiz L, Langheinz A, Burwinkel B. *Characterization of extracellular circulating microRNA*. Nucleic Acids Res. 2011;39:7223–7233.
- Shao, H., et al., New Technologies for Analysis of Extracellular Vesicles. Chem Rev, 2018. 118(4): p. 1917-1950
- 34. Wang, X., et al., Mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes have altered microRNA profiles and induce osteogenic differentiation depending on the stage of differentiation. PLoS One, 2018. 13(2): p. e0193059.
- 35. Shao, H., et al., Protein typing of circulating microvesicles allows real-time monitoring of glioblastoma therapy. Nat Med, 2012. 18(12): p. 1835-40.
- 36. Sharma, S., et al., Structural-mechanical characterization of nanoparticle exosomes in human saliva, using correlative AFM, FESEM, and force spectroscopy. ACS Nano, 2010. 4(4): p. 1921-6.
- 37. Stoner, S.A., et al., *High sensitivity flow cytometry of membrane vesicles. Cytometry* A, 2016. 89(2): p. 196-206.

- Li, P., et al., *Progress in Exosome Isolation Techniques*. Theranostics, 2017. 7(3): p. 789-804.
- Shao, H., et al., New Technologies for Analysis of Extracellular Vesicles. Chem Rev, 2018. 118(4): p. 1917-1950.
- 40. Gardiner, C., et al., *Techniques used for the isolation and characterization of extracellular vesicles: results of a worldwide survey.* J Extracell Vesicles, 2016. 5: p. 32945.
- 41. Thery, C., et al., *Isolation and characterization of exosomes from cell culture supernatants and biological fluids.* Curr Protoc Cell Biol, 2006. Chapter 3: p. Unit 3.22.
- 42. Crescitelli, R., et al., *Distinct RNA profiles in subpopulations of extracellular vesicles: apoptotic bodies, microvesicles and exosomes.* J Extracell Vesicles, 2013. 2.
- 43. Kowal, J., et al., Proteomic comparison defines novel markers to characterize heterogeneous populations of extracellular vesicle subtypes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2016. 113(8): p. E968-77
- 44. Boing, A.N., et al., *Single-step isolation of extracellular vesicles by sizeexclusion chromatography.* J Extracell Vesicles, 2014. 3.
- 45. Welton, J.L., et al., Ready-made chromatography columns for extracellular vesicle isolation from plasma. J Extracell Vesicles, 2015. 4: p. 27269.
- 46. Helwa, I., et al., A Comparative Study of Serum Exosome Isolation Using Differential Ultracentrifugation and Three Commercial Reagents. PLoS One, 2017. 12(1): p. e0170628.
- 47. Anand PK, Anand E, Bleck CKE, Anes E, Griffiths G. Exosomal Hsp70 induces a proinflammatory response to foreign particles including mycobacteria. PLoS One. 2010;5:e10136.
- 48. Lancaster GI, Febbraio MA. Exosome-dependent trafficking of HSP70: a novel secretory pathway for cellular stress proteins. J. Biol. Chem. 2005;280:23349–23355.
- 49. Qazi KR, Torregrosa Paredes P, Dahlberg B, Grunewald J, Eklund A, Gabrielsson S. Proinflammatory exosomes in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid of patients with sarcoidosis. Thorax. 2010;65:1016–1024.

- 50. Zhang H-G, Liu C, Su K, et al. *A membrane form of TNF-alpha presented by exosomes delays T cell activation-induced cell death.* J. Immunol. 2006;176:7385–7393.
- 51. Li X, Li J-J, Yang J-Y, et al. *Tolerance induction by exosomes from immature dendritic cells and rapamycin in a mouse cardiac allograft model*. PLoS One. 2012;7(8):e44045.
- 52. Morelli AE. The immune regulatory effect of apoptotic cells and exosomes on dendritic cells: its impact on transplantation. Am. J. Transplant. 2006;6:254–261.
- 53. Abrahams VM. First trimester trophoblast cells secrete Fas ligand which induces immune cell apoptosis. Mol. Hum. Reprod. 2004;10:55–63.
- 54. Frängsmyr L, Baranov V, Nagaeva O, Stendahl U, Kjellberg L, Mincheva-Nilsson L. Cytoplasmic microvesicular form of Fas ligand in human early placenta: switching 125 the tissue immune privilege hypothesis from cellular to vesicular level. Mol. Hum. Reprod. 2005;11:35–41.
- 55. Andreola G, Rivoltini L, Castelli C, et al. *Induction of lymphocyte apoptosis by tumor cell secretion of FasL-bearing microvesicles.* J. Exp. Med. 2002;195:1303–1316.
- 56. Martínez-Lorenzo MJ, Anel A, Alava MA, et al. The human melanoma cell line MelJuSo secretes bioactive FasL and APO2L/TRAIL on the surface of microvesicles. Possible contribution to tumor counterattack. Exp. Cell Res. 2004;295:315–329.
- 57. Stem Cell Basics: What are the unique properties of all stem cells? In Stem Cell Information [World Wide Web site]. Bethesda, MD: National Institutes of Health, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2006
- 58. Derkus B, Emregul KC & Emregul E 2017 A new approach in stem cell research exosomes: their mechanism of action via cellular pathways. Cell Biology International 41 466–475.
- 59. Kunter U, Rong S, Boor P, Eitner F, Müller-Newen G, Djuric Z, van Roeyen CR, Konieczny A, Ostendorf T, Villa L, et al. 2007 *Mesenchymal stem cells prevent progressive experimental renal failure but maldifferentiate into glomerular adipocytes.* Journal of the American Society of Nephrology 18 1754–1764.
- 60. P. J. Fairchild, *The challenge of immunogenicity in the quest for induced pluripotency,* Nature Reviews Immunology, vol. 10, no. 12, pp. 868–875, 2010.
- 61. S. Yamanaka, A fresh look at iPS cells, Cell, vol. 137, no. 1, pp. 13–17, 2009.

- 62. L. Biancone, S. Bruno, M. C. Deregibus, C. Tetta, and G. Camussi, *Therapeutic potential of mesenchymal stem cell-derived microvesicles*, Nephrology Dialysis Transplantation, vol. 27, no. 8, pp. 3037–3042, 2012.
- 63. Y. Wang, L. Zhang, Y. Li et al., *Exosomes/microvesicles from induced pluripotent stem cells deliver cardioprotective miRNAs and prevent cardiomyocyte apoptosis in the ischemic myocardium,* International Journal of Cardiology, vol. 192, pp. 61–69, 2015.
- 64. G. Camussi, M. C. Deregibus, and V. Cantaluppi, *Role of stemcell-derived microvesicles in the paracrine action of stem cells,* Biochemical Society Transactions, vol. 41, no. 1, pp. 283–287, 2013.
- 65. Medzhitov R (2008) Origin and physiological roles of inflammation. Nature, 454(7203): 428–435
- 66. Hotamisligil G S (2006). Inflammation and metabolic disorders. Nature, 444(7121): 860–867
- 67. Hollingsworth J W, Siegel E R, Creasey W A (1967). Granulocyte survival in synovial exudate of patients with rheumatoid arthritis and other inflammatory joint diseases.
  Yale J Biol Med, 39(5): 289 296
- S. Watanabe, Y. Arimura, K. Nagaishi et al., *Conditioned mesenchymal stem cells produce pleiotropic gut trophic factors*, Journal of Gastroenterology, vol. 49, no. 2, pp. 270–282, 2014.
- 69. S. Watanabe, Y. Arimura, K. Nagaishi et al., *Conditioned mesenchymal stem cells produce pleiotropic gut trophic factors*, Journal of Gastroenterology, vol. 49, no. 2, pp. 270–282, 2014.
- 70. Fei Mao, Yunbing Wu, Xudong Tang, Jingjing Kang, Bin Zhang, Yongmin Yan, Hui Qian, Xu Zhang, Wenrong Xu, Exosomes Derived from Human Umbilical Cord Mesenchymal Stem Cells Relieve Inflammatory Bowel Disease in Mice, BioMed Research International, vol. 2017, Article ID 5356760, 12 pages, 2017.
- W. F. Doe and B. Dorsman, Chronic inflammatory bowel disease--increased plasminogen activator secretion by mononuclear phagocytes, Clin Exp Immunol, vol. 48, no. 1, pp. 256–260, 1982.
- 72. Chang CL, Chen CH, Chiang JY, et al. Synergistic effect of combined melatonin and adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cell (ADMSC)-derived exosomes on amelioration of dextran sulfate sodium (DSS)-induced acute colitis. Am J Transl Res. 2019;11(5):2706-2724. Published 2019 May 15.

- 73. Yang, R., Huang, H., Cui, S. et al. *IFN-γ promoted exosomes from mesenchymal stem cells to attenuate colitis via miR-125a and miR-125b.* Cell Death Dis **11**, 603 (2020).
- 74. An, JH., Li, Q., Bhang, DH. et al. *TNF-α and INF-γ primed canine stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles alleviate experimental murine colitis*. Sci Rep **10**, 2115 (2020).
- 75. D. Desai and N. Desai, *Colorectal cancer surveillance in inflammatory bowel disease: A critical analysis,* World Journal of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy, vol. 6, no. 11, pp. 541–548, 2014.
- 76. R. J. Tang, S. N. Shen, X. Y. Zhao et al., Mesenchymal stem cells-regulated Treg cells suppress colitis-associated colorectal cancer, Stem Cell Research & Therapy, vol. 6, 2015.
- 77. Djouad F, Plence P, Bony C, Tropel P, Apparailly F, Sany J, et al. *Immunosuppressive effect of mesenchymal stem cells favors tumor growth in allogeneic animals.* Blood. 2003;102:3837–44.
- 78. El-Haibi CP, Bell GW, Zhang J, Collmann AY, Wood D, Scherber CM, et al. Critical role for lysyl oxidase in mesenchymal stem cell-driven breast cancer malignancy. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2012;109:17460–5.
- 79. Yang R, Liu Y, Kelk P, Qu C, Akiyama K, Chen C, Atsuta I, Chen W, Zhou Y, Shi S A subset of IL-17(+) mesenchymal stem cells possesses anti-Candida albicans effect. Cell Res. 2013 Jan; 23(1):107-21.
- 80. Yu T, Liu D, Zhang T, Zhou Y, Shi S, Yang R Inhibition of Tet1- and Tet2-mediated DNA demethylation promotes immunomodulation of periodontal ligament stem cells, Cell Death Dis. 2019 Oct 14; 10(10):780.
- 81. Song WJ, Li Q, Ryu MO, Nam A, An JH, Jung YC, Ahn JO, Youn HY, Canine adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells pre-treated with TNF-alpha enhance immunomodulatory effects in inflammatory bowel disease in mice, Res Vet Sci. 2019 Aug; 125():176-184.
- 82. Marcus ME, Leonard JN, FedExosomes: *Engineering Therapeutic Biological Nanoparticles that Truly Deliver,* Pharmaceuticals (Basel). 2013; 6(5):659-80.
- 83. Li Cao, Hanxin Xu, Ge Wang, Mei Liu, Dean Tian, Zhenglin Yuan, Extracellular vesicles derived from bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells attenuate dextran sodium sulfate-induced ulcerative colitis by promoting M2 macrophage polarization, International Immunopharmacology, Volume 72, 2019, Pages 264-274.

- 84. Wu Y, Qiu W, Xu X, et al. Exosomes derived from human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells alleviate inflammatory bowel disease in mice through ubiquitination. Am J Transl Res. 2018;10(7):2026-2036. Published 2018 Jul 15.
- 85. Wang, G, Yuan, J, Cai, X, et al. *HucMSC-exosomes carrying miR-326 inhibit neddylation to relieve inflammatory bowel disease in mice.* Clin Transl Med. 2020; 10:e113.
- 86. Yang J, Liu X-X, Fan H, Tang Q, Shou Z-X, Zuo D-M, et al. (2015) Extracellular Vesicles Derived from Bone Marrow Mesenchymal Stem Cells Protect against Experimental Colitis via Attenuating Colon Inflammation, Oxidative Stress and Apoptosis. PLoS ONE 10(10): e0140551.
- 87. Duan L, Huang H, Zhao X, Zhou M, Chen S, Wang C, Han Z, Han Z, Guo Z, Li Z, Li Z, et al: Extracellular vesicles derived from human placental mesenchymal stem cells alleviate experimental colitis in mice by inhibiting inflammation and oxidative stress. Int J Mol Med 46: 1551-1561, 2020.
- 88. Lee KE, Jung S-A, Joo Y-H, Song EM, Moon CM, Kim S-E, et al. (2019) *The efficacy of conditioned medium released by tonsil-derived mesenchymal stem cells in a chronic murine colitis model.* PLoS ONE 14(12): e0225739.
- 89. Ma ZJ, Wang YH, Li ZG, Wang Y, Li BY, Kang HY, Wu XY. Immunosuppressive Effect of Exosomes from Mesenchymal Stromal Cells in Defined Medium on Experimental Colitis. IJSC 2019;12:440-448.
- 90. Zongshan Shen, Shuhong Kuang, Yong Zhang, Mingmei Yang, Wei Qin, Xuetao Shi, Zhengmei Lin, *Chitosan hydrogel incorporated with dental pulp stem cell-derived exosomes alleviates periodontitis in mice via a macrophage-dependent mechanism, Bioactive Materials,* Volume 5, Issue 4, 2020, Pages 1113-1126.
- 91. Jacob Ren Jie Chew, Shang Jiunn Chuah, Kristeen Ye Wen Teo, Shipin Zhang, Ruenn Chai Lai, Jia Hui Fu, Lum Peng Lim, Sai Kiang Lim, Wei Seong Toh, *Mesenchymal stem cell exosomes enhance periodontal ligament cell functions and promote periodontal regeneration,* Acta Biomaterialia, Volume 89, 2019, Pages 252-264, ISSN 1742-7061.
- 92. Ru Wang, Qiuxia Ji, Chenda Meng, Hanyun Liu, Chun Fan, Sofya Lipkind, Zhiguo Wang, Quanchen Xu, Role of gingival mesenchymal stem cell exosomes in macrophage polarization under inflammatory conditions, International Immunopharmacology, Volume 81, 2020, 106030, ISSN 1567-5769.

- 93. Kinney JW, Bemiller SM, Murtishaw AS, Leisgang AM, Salazar AM, Lamb BT.
   Inflammation as a central mechanism in Alzheimer's disease. Alzheimers Dement (N
   Y). 2018;4:575-590. Published 2018 Sep 6.
- 94. Ding, M., Shen, Y., Wang, P. et al. Exosomes Isolated From Human Umbilical Cord Mesenchymal Stem Cells Alleviate Neuroinflammation and Reduce Amyloid-Beta Deposition by Modulating Microglial Activation in Alzheimer's Disease. Neurochem Res 43, 2165–2177 (2018).
- 95. Losurdo, M, Pedrazzoli, M, D'Agostino, C, et al. *Intranasal delivery of mesenchymal stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles exerts immunomodulatory and neuroprotective effects in a 3xTg model of Alzheimer's disease.* STEM CELLS Transl Med. 2020; 9: 1068–1084.
- 96. Santamaria, G., Brandi, E., Vitola, P.L. et al. *Intranasal delivery of mesenchymal stem cell secretome repairs the brain of Alzheimer's mice*. Cell Death Differ (2020).
- 97. Cui, Gh., Guo, Hd., Li, H. et al. *RVG-modified exosomes derived from mesenchymal* stem cells rescue memory deficits by regulating inflammatory responses in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. Immun Ageing 16, 10 (2019).
- 98. Mijung Lee, Jae-Jun Ban, Seungwon Yang, Wooseok Im, Manho Kim, The exosome of adipose-derived stem cells reduces β-amyloid pathology and apoptosis of neuronal cells derived from the transgenic mouse model of Alzheimer's disease, Brain Research, Volume 1691, 2018, Pages 87-93
- 99. Huber, Christa, Utilizing Neural Stem Cell-Derived Exosomes for the Treatment of Alzheimer's Disease (2020). IdeaFest. 36.
- 100.Li, B, Liu, J, Gu, G, Han, X, Zhang, Q, Zhang, W. Impact of neural stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles on mitochondrial dysfunction, sirtuin 1 level, and synaptic deficits in Alzheimer's disease. J Neurochem. 2020; 154: 502–518.
- 101.Wang, Shan-Shan, Jia, Jianjun, and Wang, Zhenfu. Mesenchymal Stem Cell-Derived Extracellular Vesicles Suppresses iNOS Expression and Ameliorates Neural Impairment in Alzheimer's Disease Mice. 1 Jan. 2018 : 1005 – 1013.
- 102.de Godoy MA, Saraiva LM, de Carvalho LRP, Vasconcelos-Dos-Santos A, Beiral HJV, Ramos AB, Silva LRP, Leal RB, Monteiro VHS, Braga CV, de Araujo-Silva CA, Sinis LC, Bodart-Santos V, Kasai-Brunswick TH, Alcantara CL, Lima APCA, da Cunha-E Silva NL, Galina A, Vieyra A, De Felice FG, Mendez-Otero R, Ferreira ST. *Mesenchymal stem*

cells and cell-derived extracellular vesicles protect hippocampal neurons from oxidative stress and synapse damage induced by amyloid-6 oligomers. J Biol Chem. 2018 Feb 9;293(6):1957-1975.

- 103.Nakano, M., Kubota, K., Kobayashi, E. et al. *Bone marrow-derived mesenchymal* stem cells improve cognitive impairment in an Alzheimer's disease model by increasing the expression of microRNA-146a in hippocampus. Sci Rep 10, 10772 (2020).
- 104.Rabab Hassan, Amany A. Rabea, Alyaa Ragae, Dina Sabry, *The prospective role of mesenchymal stem cells exosomes on circumvallate taste buds in induced Alzheimer's disease of ovariectomized albino rats: (Light and transmission electron microscopic study)*, Archives of Oral Biology, Volume 110, 2020, 104596.
- 105.Yang, L. Y., Zhai, Y. X., Hao, Y., Zhu, Z. C., Cheng, G. S., *The Regulatory Functionality of Exosomes Derived from hUMSCs in 3D Culture for Alzheimer's Disease Therapy*. Small 2020, 16, 1906273.
- 106.Ahmed Nel-M, Murakami M, Hirose Y, Nakashima M. *Therapeutic Potential of Dental Pulp Stem Cell Secretome for Alzheimer's Disease Treatment: An In Vitro Study*. Stem Cells Int. 2016; 2016: 8102478.
- 107.Zijian Li, Fei Liu, Xin He, Xue Yang, Fengping Shan, Juan Feng, *Exosomes derived from mesenchymal stem cells attenuate inflammation and demyelination of the central nervous system in EAE rats by regulating the polarization of microglia,* International Immunopharmacology, Volume 67, 2019, Pages 268-280.
- 108.Yuan, Oliver. Mesenchymal Stem Cell-derived Exosomes Ameliorate Disease in a Model of Relapsing-remitting Multiple Sclerosis, University of California, Davis, ProQuest Dissertations Publishing, 2018. 10825862.
- 109.Clark K, Zhang S, Barthe S, Kumar P, Pivetti C, Kreutzberg N, Reed C, Wang Y, Paxton Z, Farmer D, Guo F, Wang A. Placental Mesenchymal Stem Cell-Derived Extracellular Vesicles Promote Myelin Regeneration in an Animal Model of Multiple Sclerosis. Cells. 2019 Nov 23;8(12):1497.
- 110.Jarmalavičiūtė A, Tunaitis V, Pivoraitė U, Venalis A, Pivoriūnas A. *Exosomes from* dental pulp stem cells rescue human dopaminergic neurons from 6-hydroxydopamine-induced apoptosis. Cytotherapy. 2015 Jul;17(7):932-9.

- 111.Sokolove J, Lepus CM. *Role of inflammation in the pathogenesis of osteoarthritis: latest findings and interpretations.* Ther Adv Musculoskelet Dis. 2013;5(2):77-94.
- 112.Goldring MB, Otero M. *Inflammation in osteoarthritis*. Curr Opin Rheumatol. 2011;23(5):471-478.
- 113.Zhang, S., Chuah, S. J., Lai, R. C., Hui, S. K., Toh, W. S., 2018: *MSC exosomes mediate cartilage by enhancing proliferation, attenuating apoptosis and modulating immune reactivity.* Biomaterials, 156, 16–27.
- 114.Zhang, S., Chu, W. C., Lai, R. C., Lim, S. K., Hui, J. H., Toh, W. S., 2016: Exosomes derived from human embryonic mesenchymal stem cells promote osteochondral regeneration. Osteoarthr. Cartil., 24, 2135e2140.
- 115.Zhu, Y., Wang, Y., Zhao, B., Niu, X., Hu, B., Li, Q., et al.,2017: *Comparison of exosomes* secreted by induced pluripotent stem cell-derived mesenchymal stem cells and synovial membrane-derived mesenchymal stem cells for the treatment of osteoarthritis. Stem Cell Research and Therapy, 8, 64.
- 116.Cosenza S, Ruiz M, Toupet K, Jorgensen C, Noël D. *Mesenchymal stem cells derived exosomes and microparticles protect cartilage and bone from degradation in osteoarthritis.* Sci Rep. 2017;7(1):16214. Published 2017 Nov 24.
- 117.Jarmalavičiūtė A, Tunaitis V, Pivoraitė U, Venalis A, Pivoriūnas A. *Exosomes from dental pulp stem cells rescue human dopaminergic neurons from 6-hydroxydopamine-induced apoptosis.* Cytotherapy. 2015;17(7):932–9.
- 118.Yan, L., Wu, X. Exosomes produced from 3D cultures of umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells in a hollow-fiber bioreactor show improved osteochondral regeneration activity. Cell Biol Toxicol 36, 165–178 (2020).
- 119.Tao SC, Yuan T, Zhang YL, Yin WJ, Guo SC, Zhang CQ. *Exosomes derived from miR-*140-5p-overexpressing human synovial mesenchymal stem cells enhance cartilage tissue regeneration and prevent osteoarthritis of the knee in a rat model. Theranostics. 2017;7(1):180–95.
- 120.Wang Y, Yu D, Liu Z, Zhou F, Dai J, Wu B, Zhou J, Heng BC, Zou XH, Ouyang H, Liu H. Exosomes from embryonic mesenchymal stem cells alleviate osteoarthritis through balancing synthesis and degradation of cartilage extracellular matrix. Stem Cell Res Ther. 2017;8(1):189.

- 121.Zhang S, Chu WC, Lai RC, Lim SK, Hui JH, Toh WS. *Exosomes derived from human embryonic mesenchymal stem cells promote osteochondral regeneration*. Osteoarthr Cartil. 2016;24(12):2135–40.
- 122.Sabry D, Shamaa A, Amer M, El-Tookhy O, Abdallah A, Abd El Hassib DM, et al. *The effect of mesenchymal sCell derived microvesicles in repair of femoral chondral defects in dogs.* J Musculoskelet Res. 2018;21(2).
- 123.Cosenza S, Toupet K, Maumus M, Luz-Crawford P, Blanc-Brude O, Jorgensen C, Noël
   D. Mesenchymal stem cells-derived exosomes are more immunosuppressive than microparticles in inflammatory arthritis. Theranostics. 2018;8(5):1399–410.
- 124. Wu J, Kuang L, Chen C, Yang J, Zeng WN, Li T, Chen H, Huang S, Fu Z, Li J, et al. *miR-*100-5p-abundant exosomes derived from infrapatellar fat pad MSCs protect articular cartilage and ameliorate gait abnormalities via inhibition of mTOR in osteoarthritis. Biomaterials. 2019;206:87–100
- 125.Zavatti M, Beretti F, Casciaro F, Bertucci E, Maraldi T. *Comparison of the therapeutic effect of amniotic fluid stem cells and their exosomes on monoiodoacetate-induced animal model of osteoarthritis.* Biofactors. 2019: 1–12.
- 126.Tavasolian F, Hosseini AZ, Soudi S, Naderi M. *miRNA-146a Improves Immunomodulatory Effects of MSC-derived Exosomes in Rheumatoid Arthritis.* Current Gene Therapy. 2020 ;20(4):297-312.
- 127.Zhe Chen, Hanqi Wang, Yang Xia, Fuhua Yan and Yong Lu, *Therapeutic Potential of Mesenchymal Cell–Derived miRNA-150-5p–Expressing Exosomes in Rheumatoid Arthritis Mediated by the Modulation of MMP14 and VEGF,* J Immunol September 17, 2018, ji1800304.
- 128.Jing Zheng, Lijuan Zhu, long lok In, Yilan Chen, Ning Jia, Weiping Zhu, Bone marrowderived mesenchymal stem cells-secreted exosomal microRNA-192-5p delays inflammatory response in rheumatoid arthritis, International Immunopharmacology Volume 78 2020, 105985, ISSN 1567-5769.
- 129.Meng Q, Qiu B. Exosomal MicroRNA-320a Derived From Mesenchymal Stem Cells Regulates Rheumatoid Arthritis Fibroblast-Like Synoviocyte Activation by Suppressing CXCL9 Expression. Front Physiol. 2020;11:441. Published 2020 May 26. doi:10.3389/fphys.2020.00441

- 130.Meng HY, Chen LQ, Chen LH. *The inhibition by human MSCs-derived miRNA-124a overexpression exosomes in the proliferation and migration of rheumatoid arthritisrelated fibroblast-like synoviocyte cell.* BMC Musculoskelet Disord. (2020) 21:150.
- 131.Meng, HY., Chen, LQ. & Chen, LH. The inhibition by human MSCs-derived miRNA-124a overexpression exosomes in the proliferation and migration of rheumatoid arthritis-related fibroblast-like synoviocyte cell. BMC Musculoskelet Disord 21, 150 (2020).
- 132.Nojehdehi S, Soudi S, Hesampour A, Rasouli S, Soleimani M, Hashemi SM. Immunomodulatory effects of mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes on experimental type-1 autoimmune diabetes. J Cell Biochem. 2018 Nov;119(11):9433-9443.
- 133.Taeko Shigemoto-Kuroda, Joo Youn Oh, Dong-ki Kim, Hyun Jeong Jeong, Se Yeon Park, Hyun Ju Lee, Jong Woo Park, Tae Wan Kim, Su Yeon An, Darwin J. Prockop, Ryang Hwa Lee, *MSC-derived Extracellular Vesicles Attenuate Immune Responses in Two Autoimmune Murine Models: Type 1 Diabetes and Uveoretinitis,* Stem Cell Reports, Volume 8, Issue 5, 2017, Pages 1214-1225.
- 134.Sun Y, Shi H, Yin S, Ji C, Zhang X, Zhang B, Wu P, Shi Y, Mao F, Yan Y, Xu W, Qian H. Human Mesenchymal Stem Cell Derived Exosomes Alleviate Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus by Reversing Peripheral Insulin Resistance and Relieving β-Cell Destruction. ACS Nano. 2018 Aug 28;12(8):7613-7628.
- 135.He, Q., Wang, L., Zhao, R. et al. Mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes exert ameliorative effects in type 2 diabetes by improving hepatic glucose and lipid metabolism via enhancing autophagy. Stem Cell Res Ther **11**, 223 (2020).
- 136.Mahdipour, E, Salmasi, Z, Sabeti, N. Potential of stem cell-derived exosomes to regenerate β islets through Pdx-1 dependent mechanism in a rat model of type 1 diabetes. J Cell Physiol. 2019; 234: 20310–20321.
- 137.Wen D, Peng Y, Liu D, Weizmann Y, Mahato RI. *Mesenchymal stem cell and derived exosome as small RNA carrier and Immunomodulator to improve islet transplantation.* J Control Release. 2016 Sep 28;238:166-175.
- 138.Chen, J., Chen, J., Cheng, Y. et al. *Mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes protect beta cells against hypoxia-induced apoptosis via miR-21 by alleviating ER stress and inhibiting p38 MAPK phosphorylation.* Stem Cell Res Ther 11, 97 (2020).

- 139.Chen CY, Rao SS, Ren L, Hu XK, Tan YJ, Hu Y, Luo J, Liu YW, Yin H, Huang J, Cao J, Wang ZX, Liu ZZ, Liu HM, Tang SY, Xu R, Xie H. *Exosomal DMBT1 from human urinederived stem cells facilitates diabetic wound repair by promoting angiogenesis.* Theranostics. 2018 Feb 7;8(6):1607-1623.
- 140.Li X, Xie X, Lian W, et al. *Exosomes from adipose-derived stem cells overexpressing Nrf2 accelerate cutaneous wound healing by promoting vascularization in a diabetic foot ulcer rat model.* Exp Mol Med. 2018;50(4):29.
- 141.Tao SC, Guo SC, Li M, Ke QF, Guo YP, Zhang CQ. Chitosan Wound Dressings Incorporating Exosomes Derived from MicroRNA-126-Overexpressing Synovium Mesenchymal Stem Cells Provide Sustained Release of Exosomes and Heal Full-Thickness Skin Defects in a Diabetic Rat Model. Stem Cells Transl Med. 2017 Mar;6(3):736-747.
- 142.Shi Q, Qian Z, Liu D, et al. *GMSC-Derived Exosomes Combined with a Chitosan/Silk Hydrogel Sponge Accelerates Wound Healing in a Diabetic Rat Skin Defect Model*. Front Physiol. 2017;8:904. Published 2017 Nov 7.
- 143.Lv Q, Deng J, Chen Y, Wang Y, Liu B, Liu J. Engineered Human Adipose Stem-Cell-Derived Exosomes Loaded with miR-21-5p to Promote Diabetic Cutaneous Wound Healing. Mol Pharm. 2020 May 4;17(5):1723-1733.
- 144.Yu, M., Liu, W., Li, J. et al. *Exosomes derived from atorvastatin-pretreated MSC accelerate diabetic wound repair by enhancing angiogenesis via AKT/eNOS pathway.* Stem Cell Res Ther 11, 350 (2020).
- 145.Geiger, Adolf & Walker, Audrey & Nissen, Erwin. (2015). *Human fibrocyte-derived exosomes accelerate wound healing in genetically diabetic mice.* Biochemical and biophysical research communications. 467. 10.1016/j.bbrc.2015.09.166.
- 146.Li, Xiaocong & Jiang, Chunyu & Zhao, Jungong. (2016). Human endothelial progenitor cells-derived exosomes accelerate cutaneous wound healing in diabetic rats by promoting endothelial function. Journal of Diabetes and its Complications. 30. 10.1016/j.jdiacomp.2016.05.009.
- 147.Wang, Xiao & Jiao, Ya & Pan, Yi & Zhang, Longxiao & Gong, Hongmin & Qi, Yongjun & Wang, Maoying & Gong, Huiping & Shao, Mingju & Wang, Xinglei & Jiang, Duyin.
  (2019). Fetal Dermal Mesenchymal Stem Cell-Derived Exosomes Accelerate

*Cutaneous Wound Healing by Activating Notch Signaling.* Stem cells international. 2019. 2402916. 10.1155/2019/2402916.

- 148.Dalirfardouei R, Jamialahmadi K, Jafarian AH, Mahdipour E. *Promising effects of exosomes isolated from menstrual blood-derived mesenchymal stem cell on woundhealing process in diabetic mouse model.* J Tissue Eng Regen Med. 2019 Apr;13(4):555-568.
- 149.Nagaishi K, Mizue Y, Chikenji T, Otani M, Nakano M, Konari N, Fujimiya M. *Mesenchymal stem cell therapy ameliorates diabetic nephropathy via the paracrine effect of renal trophic factors including exosomes.* Sci Rep. 2016 Oct 10;6:34842.
- 150.Ebrahim, N.; Ahmed, I.A.; Hussien, N.I.; Dessouky, A.A.; Farid, A.S.; Elshazly, A.M.; Mostafa, O.; Gazzar, W.B.E.; Sorour, S.M.; Seleem, Y.; Hussein, A.M.; Sabry, D. Mesenchymal Stem Cell-Derived Exosomes Ameliorated Diabetic Nephropathy by Autophagy Induction through the mTOR Signaling Pathway. Cells 2018, 7, 226.
- 151.Grange, C., Tritta, S., Tapparo, M. et al. *Stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles inhibit and revert fibrosis progression in a mouse model of diabetic nephropathy.* Sci Rep 9, 4468 (2019).
- 152.Jiang, Zz., Liu, Ym., Niu, X. et al. *Exosomes secreted by human urine-derived stem cells could prevent kidney complications from type I diabetes in rats.* Stem Cell Res Ther 7, 24 (2016).
- 153.Duan Y, Luo Q, Wang Y, Ma Y, Chen F, Zhu X, Shi J. *Adipose mesenchymal stem cellderived extracellular vesicles containing microRNA-26a-5p target TLR4 and protect against diabetic nephropathy.* J Biol Chem. 2020 Sep 11;295(37):12868-12884.
- 154.Fan, B., Li, C., Szalad, A. et al. Mesenchymal stromal cell-derived exosomes ameliorate peripheral neuropathy in a mouse model of diabetes. Diabetologia **63**, 431–443 (2020).
- 155.Zhang W, Wang Y, Kong Y. Exosomes Derived From Mesenchymal Stem Cells Modulate miR-126 to Ameliorate Hyperglycemia-Induced Retinal Inflammation Via Targeting HMGB1. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2019 Jan 2;60(1):294-303.
- 156.Safwat A, Sabry D, Ragiae A, Amer E, Mahmoud RH, Shamardan RM. Adipose mesenchymal stem cells-derived exosomes attenuate retina degeneration of streptozotocin-induced diabetes in rabbits. J Circ Biomark. 2018 Oct 28;7:1849454418807827.

- 157.Zhu LL, Huang X, Yu W, Chen H, Chen Y, Dai YT. Transplantation of adipose tissuederived stem cell-derived exosomes ameliorates erectile function in diabetic rats. Andrologia. 2018 Mar;50(2). doi: 10.1111/and.12871. Epub 2017 Oct 23. PMID: 29057541.
- 158.Chen F, Zhang H, Wang Z, Ding W, Zeng Q, Liu W, Huang C, He S, Wei A. Adipose-Derived Stem Cell-Derived Exosomes Ameliorate Erectile Dysfunction in a Rat Model of Type 2 Diabetes. J Sex Med. 2017 Sep;14(9):1084-1094.
- 159.Bai S, Yin Q, Dong T, Dai F, Qin Y, Ye L, Du J, Zhang Q, Chen H, Shen B. Endothelial progenitor cell-derived exosomes ameliorate endothelial dysfunction in a mouse model of diabetes. Biomed Pharmacother. 2020 Nov;131:110756.
- 160.Lin Y, Zhang F, Lian XF, Peng WQ, Yin CY. Mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes improve diabetes mellitus-induced myocardial injury and fibrosis via inhibition of TGF-61/Smad2 signaling pathway. Cell Mol Biol (Noisy-le-grand). 2019 Sep 30;65(7):123-126.
- 161. Williams, R., Hilton, D., Pease, S. et al. *Myeloid leukaemia inhibitory factor maintains the developmental potential of embryonic stem cells.* Nature 336, 684–687 (1988).
- 162.Guido de Wert, Christine Mummery, *Human embryonic stem cells: research, ethics and policy*, Human Reproduction, Volume 18, Issue 4, April 2003, Pages 672–682.
- 163.Takahashi K, Yamanaka S. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. Cell. 2006 Aug 25;126(4):663-76.
- 164.Sottocornola R, Lo Celso C. *Dormancy in the stem cell niche*. Stem Cell Res Ther. 2012;3(2):10. Published 2012 Mar 19.
- 165.Liu, Jianing & Sato, Chihiro & Cerletti, Massimiliano & Wagers, Amy. (2010). Notch Signaling in the Regulation of Stem Cell Self-Renewal and Differentiation. Current topics in developmental biology. 92. 367-409.
- 166.Valamehr B, Tsutsui H, Ho CM, Wu H. *Developing defined culture systems for human pluripotent stem cells.* Regen Med. 2011;6(5):623-634.
- 167.Gardner, R.L. (2002), *Stem cells: potency, plasticity and public perception\*.* Journal of Anatomy, 200: 277-282.
- 168.Govey, P.M., Loiselle, A.E. & Donahue, H.J. *Biophysical Regulation of Stem Cell Differentiation.* Curr Osteoporos Rep 11, 83–91 (2013).

- 169.Fuchs E, Chen T. A matter of life and death: self-renewal in stem cells. EMBO Rep. 2013;14(1):39-48.
- 170.McNamara LE, McMurray RJ, Biggs MJP, Kantawong F, Oreffo ROC, Dalby MJ. Nanotopographical Control of Stem Cell Differentiation. Journal of Tissue Engineering. January 2010. doi:10.4061/2010/120623
- 171.Furman, D., Campisi, J., Verdin, E. et al. *Chronic inflammation in the etiology of disease across the life span.* Nat Med 25, 1822–1832 (2019).
- 172.Console L, Scalise M, Indiveri C. *Exosomes in inflammation and role as biomarkers*. Clin Chim Acta. 2019 Jan;488:165-171.
- 173.De Toro J, Herschlik L, Waldner C, Mongini C. *Emerging roles of exosomes in normal and pathological conditions: new insights for diagnosis and therapeutic applications.* Front Immunol. 2015 May 4;6:203.
- 174.Rohr M, Narasimhulu CA, Sharma D, Doomra M, Riad A, Naser S, Parthasarathy S. Inflammatory Diseases of the Gut. J Med Food. 2018 Feb;21(2):113-126.
- 175.Hunter P. The inflammation theory of disease. The growing realization that chronic inflammation is crucial in many diseases opens new avenues for treatment. EMBO Rep. 2012;13(11):968-970.
- 176.Mauro Krampera, Annalisa Pasini, Giovanni Pizzolo, Lorenzo Cosmi, Sergio Romagnani, Francesco Annunziato, *Regenerative and immunomodulatory potential of mesenchymal stem cells,* Current Opinion in Pharmacology, Volume 6, Issue 4, 2006, Pages 435-441.
- 177.Herberts, C.A., Kwa, M.S. & Hermsen, H.P. *Risk factors in the development of stem cell therapy.* J Transl Med 9, 29 (2011).
- 178.Yu, B.; Zhang, X.; Li, X. *Exosomes Derived from Mesenchymal Stem Cells*. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 2014, 15, 4142-4157.
- 179.Wood MJ, O'Loughlin AJ, Samira L. *Exosomes and the blood-brain barrier: implications for neurological diseases.* Ther Deliv. 2011 Sep;2(9):1095-9.
- 180.Elahi FM, Farwell DG, Nolta JA, Anderson JD. *Preclinical translation of exosomes derived from mesenchymal stem/stromal cells.* Stem Cells. 2020;38(1):15-21.
- 181.Chen YS, Lin EY, Chiou TW, Harn HJ. Exosomes in clinical trial and their production in compliance with good manufacturing practice. Ci Ji Yi Xue Za Zhi. 2019;32(2):113-120. Published 2019 Dec 5.

- 182.Kenneth W. Witwer & Clotilde Théry (2019) *Extracellular vesicles or exosomes? On primacy, precision, and popularity influencing a choice of nomenclature,* Journal of Extracellular Vesicles, 8:1
- 183.Whitford W, Guterstam P. *Exosome manufacturing status*. Future Med Chem. 2019 May;11(10):1225-1236.
- 184.Ayala-Mar, Sergio & Donoso-Quezada, Javier & Gallo-Villanueva, Roberto & Perez-Gonzalez, Victor & González-Valdez, José. (2019). *Recent advances and challenges in the recovery and purification of cellular exosomes*. ELECTROPHORESIS. 40. 10.1002/elps.201800526.
- 185.Li X, Corbett AL, Taatizadeh E, et al. Challenges and opportunities in exosome research-Perspectives from biology, engineering, and cancer therapy. APL Bioeng. 2019;3(1):011503. Published 2019 Mar 27.
- 186.Willis GR, Kourembanas S, Mitsialis SA. Toward Exosome-Based Therapeutics: Isolation, Heterogeneity, and Fit-for-Purpose Potency. Front Cardiovasc Med. 2017;4:63. Published 2017 Oct 9.
- 187.Adlerz K, Patel D, Rowley J, Ng K, Ahsan T. *Strategies for scalable manufacturing and translation of MSC-derived extracellular vesicles.* Stem Cell Res. 2020 Oct;48:101978.
- 188.Joo HS, Suh JH, Lee HJ, Bang ES, Lee JM. *Current Knowledge and Future Perspectives on Mesenchymal Stem Cell-Derived Exosomes as a New Therapeutic Agent.* Int J Mol Sci. 2020;21(3):727. Published 2020 Jan 22.
- 189.Shengyang Fu, Yi Wang, Xiaohuan Xia, Jialin C. Zheng, *Exosome engineering: Current progress in cargo loading and targeted delivery,* NanoImpact, Volume 20, 2020, 100261, ISSN 2452-0748,